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INTRODUCTION
Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig is the company appointed by the Secretary of State for Wales as a water and sewerage
undertaker under the Water Industry Act 1991 and is required to comply with the conditions set out in the
Instrument of Appointment (the ‘Licence’) issued there under. References are made in this report to Glas Cymru –
which is the holding company of the Glas Cymru Group, and to Dŵr Cymru (Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig) - our principal
trading company. We also refer to Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited, the ‘issuer’ Company of the Group’s bonds.
The regulatory accounts are separate from the statutory financial statements of the company, which are prepared
under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). There are differences between IFRS and the basis of
preparation of information provided in the regulatory accounts because the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines
specify alternative treatment or disclosure in certain respects. Where the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines do not
specifically address an accounting issue, they require adherence to United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (UK GAAP). Financial information other than that prepared wholly on the basis of UK GAAP may not
necessarily represent a true and fair view of the financial performance or financial position of a Company as shown in
financial statements prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
In this part of our report we describe our business model and strategy, our regulatory and operating environment,
our investment programme and priorities for the AMP5 and AMP6 periods (2010-2015 and 2015-2020 respectively),
and the key business risks that we face. We then provide a description of our corporate governance arrangements
and the statutory information required by the Companies Act 2006. This report contains information of a forwardlooking nature with respect to the future business prospects and strategies of the Glas Cymru Group which has been
provided by the Directors in good faith using knowledge and information available up to the date of this report. This
report also contains forward-looking statements which involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and
depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. Past performance is no guide to future performance and
persons needing advice should consult an independent financial adviser.
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WHO WE ARE
Welsh Water is the sixth largest of the ten regulated water and wastewater businesses in England and Wales. Our primary
responsibility is to deliver safe and reliable drinking water and sanitation to the 3.2 million people we serve in Wales,
Herefordshire and parts of Deeside. We provide an essential public service and, as custodians of the water industry in our
area, we are responsible for protecting the environment and delivering a high quality and reliable service to our customers.
Much of what we do from day to day involves operating and maintaining an enormous network of assets that would cost
some £26 billion to rebuild – the equivalent of £20,000 per household customer.
We provide our services by:
managing 91 reservoirs and supplying over 800 million litres of safe, clean drinking water each day through more
than 27,000km of pipes. We also carry out almost 400,000 tests a year on tap water at our state-of-the-art
laboratories in Newport, South Wales and Bretton, North Wales;
collecting wastewater (including surface water) through more than 30,000km of sewers. We deal with over 2,000
blockages a month and manage to stop flooding or pollution in 99% of cases, helping to protect public health and
the environment;
managing 40,000 hectares of land. This includes four visitor centres that between them attract around 1 million
visitors each year; and
employing nearly 3,000 colleagues across Wales, Herefordshire and parts of Deeside and supporting a further 3,500
jobs to help ensure that we provide a first class essential service.

OUR VISION AND OUR VALUES
Customers must be able to trust that the essential services we deliver are safe and of the highest standard. We know that we
must be relied upon to do the right thing on their behalf. This is why we put customers first. They are at the heart of
everything we do. We will do this by delivering high quality, essential services that protect our customers’ health, our
communities and the environment around us.

WHY WE’RE DIFFERENT
Welsh Water is owned by Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig, a single purpose company with no shareholders and run solely for the
benefit of customers. Glas Cymru was specifically formed to own, finance and manage Welsh Water. Our governance
structure is supported by the role played by Glas Cymru Members, who have no financial stake in the company but who
perform an essential governance function and hold the Board to account for the good governance of the Group.
Welsh Water’s sole purpose is to deliver high quality water and wastewater services at the least possible cost to its customers
now and long into the future. Without any shareholders, it does not pay dividends and this enables the company to share all
its gains with customers.
Between 2010 and 2015, we are on target to return £136 million to customers by investing:
—

£87 million to finance accelerated capital projects to improve services to customers and the environment;

—

£22 million on supporting customers who struggle to pay their bills; and

—

£27 million on meeting the costs of new legal obligations such as the transfer of 17,000 km of private sewers in 2011.
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OUR INDUSTRY AND REGULATORS
Welsh Water is one of ten water and wastewater businesses and there are also nine regional companies which supply water
services only in certain areas.
Our regulators include the following:
Ofwat (our economic regulator) exists to ensure that water companies provide a good quality service at a fair price.
It sets price limits for customer bills to ensure that they are no higher than they need to be. It assesses the
operating costs and investment we need to maintain our network of assets to meet required standards and deliver
high quality services to customers. Ofwat promotes the interests of customers by incentivising efficiency and good
service and penalising inefficiency and poor service.
The Consumer Council for Water (an independent body established to represent the interests of customers)
investigates complaints, champions customer concerns, and audits our more general performance on customer
service, as well as influencing policy.
The Welsh Government sets the framework for public policy matters for Wales, including policy and legislation on
water and environmental matters.
Drinking water quality is regulated and monitored by the Drinking Water Inspectorate.
Our environmental performance, especially the way we abstract water from rivers and reservoirs and then
discharge wastewater after it has been cleaned, is regulated by Natural Resources Wales and the Environment
Agency. They oversee our management of designated sites for nature conservation and how we meet our
obligations to conserve and improve biodiversity and our natural resources.
The Health and Safety Executive is the national independent regulator for work-related health, safety and illness.
The principal aim of the Welsh Language Commissioner is to promote and facilitate the use of the Welsh language.
We submit an annual compliance report to the Commissioner’s office detailing how we have complied with the
provisions of our statutory Welsh Language Scheme which outlines how we provide bilingual services to our
customers

LISTENING TO OUR CUSTOMERS
As a business without shareholders, we are uniquely placed to ensure that our plans are shaped entirely by the needs and
preferences of our customers and other stakeholders. This is why listening to our customers is so important to us and we are
proud to have conducted our biggest ever customer and stakeholder consultation in 2013 to shape our Business Plan for 2015
to 2020.
This included:
arranging six three-day roadshows visiting communities from Swansea to Llandudno;
conducting 3,000 interviews;
inviting customers and stakeholders to eight open evenings;
coordinating a stakeholder workshop with representatives of vulnerable customers; and
conducting 40 focus groups with different types of customers.
Since our original Business Plan for 2015 to 2020 was submitted to Ofwat in December 2013, we have revised our Plan in
response to additional customer and economic research and new regulatory guidance. Ofwat’s Draft Determination provides
for a 6% reduction before inflation in the average household water and wastewater bill by 2020 whilst maintaining record
investment at £1.5 billion.
Other aspects of the Draft Determination include:
average household bill in 2019-20 will be £26 lower than in 2014-15 before inflation; and
a new sliding scale of financial rewards and penalties to reflect over or under performance.
We received a draft determination from Ofwat on 30 May, which we are currently considering. A final determination will be
issued in December 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Strong and effective corporate governance and Board leadership remain key to our ability to deliver essential public services
to over three million people every day. The Board and management team are entirely focused on delivering the best
outcomes for our customers: supplying drinking water of the highest quality and safeguarding the environment on behalf of
the communities we serve, and continuing to do so affordably.
We take decisions in the long term interests of the customers of Welsh Water, and this objective underpins our whole
approach to corporate governance. We do not see governance as a compliance activity but rather as a guide to ensure that
we act in the right way. We believe that good corporate governance is in the best interests of our customers and will help to
ensure the success and sustainability of Welsh Water. We comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code 2012 (the ‘Code’)
to the extent relevant to us as a company limited by guarantee, and we fully comply with Ofwat’s published corporate
governance principles for regulated companies http://ofwat.gov.uk/regulating/gud_ pro20140131leadershipregco.pdf.
In April 2014, we published a Governance Code to explain how we comply with these governance principles. http://
www.Dŵrcymru.co.uk/en/Company- Information/Governance.aspx
Ensuring that we conduct business in the appropriate way requires the right leadership by the Board; it should add value and
do so by establishing strategy, creating accountability, monitoring and driving performance and setting the moral tone of the
company. Accordingly, our Board composition includes Directors with diverse skills and experience to ensure a balanced
approach, and where appropriate to challenge decision making. During 2013-14, we have seen significant change. We are
grateful to Nigel Annett for his continued contribution as Managing Director until 1 September 2013. Chris Jones was
appointed as our Chief Executive with effect from 1 September 2013 and Graham Edwards joined as an independent NonExecutive Director from October. I was also grateful to John Bryant for assuming the Chairmanship of the company during my
six month leave of absence as Chairman, and I returned as Chairman as planned in November 2013.
Maintaining good and open relationships with Members and investors continues to be very important. We continue to enjoy
a very high attendance by Members at our six monthly Members’ meetings, which gives them regular opportunities to meet
the Board; at these meetings we provide presentations on company performance, developments and prospects. All Directors,
including the Chairmen of the key Board committees, are available to answer questions. After each meeting, all Members
receive a written brief of issues discussed and the replies to questions asked. Between meetings, we keep Members up to
date on key issues and developments through a combination of news bulletins and updates.
This year we had an additional Members’ meeting focused on the Price Review and held our first regional Members’ meeting.
We undertook extensive stakeholder engagement activities in order to ensure that these views informed our business plan
for the Price Review submission.
Investors receive a quarterly report and each summer we host an annual investor meeting in London. Following the
announcement of interim and preliminary results for any period there are informal meetings with major bondholders and
other investors, who may also request a meeting with a Board member at any time. The Board receives a report following
meetings with investors and, where appropriate, takes into account the views expressed by investors on issues affecting the
company.
Regular communication is also maintained with the Welsh Government and with each of the economic, water quality and
environmental, and customer service regulators of Welsh Water.
In 2014, we undertook an externally facilitated review of the Board and the findings are on page 8.
This report is presented in what the Directors consider to be a fair, balanced and understandable manner.
Robert Ayling, Chairman
June 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Welsh Water is different from other water businesses. We don’t have shareholders and we are owned and managed on
behalf of all the customers we serve.
Our Company Structure
The following companies make up our Group structure:
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig was formed as a company limited by guarantee with the single purpose to acquire and
manage Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig.
Glas Cymru (Securities) Cyfyngedig is the holding company for Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries.
Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited is the intermediate holding company of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig and Dŵr Cymru
(Financing) Limited.
Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig is a wholly owned subsidiary of Glas Cymru and is the Group’s principal trading company. Its
principal activity is the supply of water and treatment and disposal of wastewater under the Instrument of
Appointment made by the Secretary of State for Wales under the Water Act 1989.
Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited was formed in 2001 and is the ‘issuer’ company for the Group’s bonds, which are
listed on the Luxembourg Bourse. Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited, is incorporated in the Cayman Islands, but is
managed, controlled and resident in the UK for tax purposes. The company on lends the proceeds of any bond
issues to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig.
Dŵr Cymru Customer Services Limited provides income collection and billing services to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig.

Role of Members
As a company Limited by Guarantee, we do not have shareholders but our Members fulfil the valuable role that shareholders
would play in corporate governance. Members do not make strategic decisions but hold the Board to account for the
stewardship of our assets, and our goal of providing an essential public service to more than 3 million people 24/7 in a
manner which will be sustainable for future generations.
The key role of our unpaid Members is to ensure that we remain focused on our primary purpose, which is to provide
efficient high quality and affordable water and sewerage services to Welsh Water’s customers.
Our Members are individuals, appointed by the Board but selected by an independent Member Selection Panel, which is
required to maintain a balanced and diverse membership, as far as possible broadly reflective of the range of our customer
and other stakeholders’ interests. However, membership is personal, and therefore Members do not represent any groups or
stakeholders. They do not receive fees, nor do they have a financial stake in the business. We believe this independence
enables robust governance.
There are presently 57 independent Members of Glas Cymru (not including the Directors). Under the Company’s Articles of
Association each Director is also a Member while they hold office as a Director.
Members are asked to attend two formal Members’ meetings each year. In 2013- 14, we held three additional meetings to
keep Members informed about the development of work towards submitting the company’s Business Plan in December
2013, and in particular to seek Members’ views on the proposals for the Business Plan for 2015 to 2020.
A list of the independent Members of Glas Cymru, together with our Membership Policy and the Terms of Reference of the
Membership Selection Panel, is published on our website http:\\www.glascymru.com.

Role of the Board
The Group is led and controlled by a Board of Directors, which is collectively responsible for its long-term success. The Board
sets the Group’s strategic aims, monitors the performance of management against the strategic aims, ensures good
governance, sets the risk appetite and ensures that effective controls are in place in the business.
There is a schedule of matters reserved for the Board under which the Board retains ultimate responsibility in areas such as
strategy, risk and many other decisions. The schedule of matters reserved was last reviewed in March 2014 and is available
on our website.
Board governance and leadership is essential to maintaining the confidence of our customers and we are as transparent as
possible about our performance in order to support this.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
Role of the Chairman
The role of the Chairman is to lead a unified board, facilitating meetings, and to be responsible for good governance.
Meeting agendas are agreed in consultation with the Chief Executive and Company Secretary, although any director may
request that an item be added to the agenda. At least once a year, the Chairman meets with the Non-Executive Directors
without the Executive Directors present, to consider the performance of the Executive Directors and to provide feedback.
Generally, the Chairman also meets individually with each Board Member to review individual performance during the year,
although this did not happen in 2013-14 due to Robert Ayling’s six month leave of absence. Meetings between the Chairman
and individual Directors are planned to be held in calendar year 2014.

Role of the Senior Independent Director
The Senior Independent Director acts as the bridge between the Chairman and Non-Executives and liaises with our Members.
John Bryant is the current Senior Independent Director, who is due to step down from the Board in July 2014. It will be
recommended to our Members at our AGM on 4 July 2014 that Menna Richards be appointed as Senior Independent
Director.

Role of the Non-Executives
Non-Executive Directors are appointed to the Board to contribute their expertise and provide independent challenge and
rigour in the Board’s deliberations. The Non-Executive Directors meet at least once per year without the Chairman present, to
discuss his performance.

Role of the Chief Executive
The Board has delegated responsibility beyond matters reserved for the Board to the Chief Executive in order to achieve the
company’s strategy and manage the day to day affairs of the company. The Chief Executive is supported by the Executive
Team of Welsh Water in implementing strategy.

Role of the Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is responsible for supporting the Chairman in ensuring that the company demonstrates good
governance. The Company Secretary is available to the Non-Executive Directors and ensures that there are good information
flows to the board and its committees and between senior management and the Non-Executive Directors.

Appointments
The company’s Articles of Association empower the Board to appoint new Directors. For a Board to add value and be
effective it needs to be comprised of individuals with the right balance of skills and experience and diverse backgrounds.
Directors must display independent judgement and an ability to challenge constructively. The search for Board candidates is
conducted by the Nominations Committee on the basis of merit, against objective criteria set for the role, and with due
regard to maintaining an appropriate balance of skills and experience and to the importance of ensuring diversity of
representation on the Board. The Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment are made available for public inspection
upon request to the Company Secretary.
Welsh Water is committed to promoting diversity, non-discrimination, and equality of opportunity in the way we treat
employees, prospective employees, visitors, clients, customers and suppliers. The Board has documented its approach to
recruitment in a diversity policy which it is committed to following.
Gender diversity
With regard to having an appropriate level of representation from women, we are making good progress toward meeting the
objectives of the Davies Report. Currently, 25% of our Non-Executive Directors are women, 30% of the Executive team are
women and 34% of Welsh Water’s wider Leadership Team are women.

7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
Induction and development
Directors receive a personalised induction process, including an information pack; site visits and one to one meetings with
senior managers. The board and committees undertake training and briefing sessions as appropriate. In 2013-14 our Board
(with the exception of Graham Edwards and Anna Walker who both hold responsibility for health and safety issues in related
roles elsewhere) received health and safety training (IOSH Safety for Senior Executives). This year we have increased the
number of site visits and meetings around the business for both DCE & Board. The Board has visited sites including the
Rainscape project sites in Llanelli and Llyswen Water Treatment Works and has met at locations in North and South Wales.

Balance and independence
The Board believes that it and its Committees have an appropriate composition to undertake its responsibilities effectively.
The Board keeps its membership and that of its Committees under review to ensure that an acceptable balance is maintained.
The Board is satisfied that all Directors have adequate time to commit to their role and that there are no cross-Directorships
or significant business interests in common between members of the Board.
All of our Non-Executive Directors have been determined to be independent in accordance with the code and free from any
business or other relationship which could compromise their independent judgement. As an integral part of the Board’s
succession plan, we have made a conscious decision to balance the appointment of new Directors with maintaining sufficient
stability for the Board as a whole. Graham Edwards joined the Board in 2013 and brings a vast range of operational
experience to the Board and QEC, in particular as regards experience in the utilities sector. John Bryant will stand down from
the Board at 2014 AGM after 13 years on the Board. John has shown extraordinary commitment and has been an asset to the
Board throughout several periods of intense change. He has an in-depth knowledge of the company and has retained the
independence of character and judgement required in a well performing Non-Executive Director. Robert Ayling was an
Independent Non-Executive Director until his appointment as Chairman in 2010.
In order to ensure that we have an effective Board, we undertake a review once a year to provide opportunity for continuous
improvement. In March 2014 we undertook an externally facilitated review undertaken by Independent Audit. The outcome
of the evaluation was reviewed by the Chairman and presented to the Board by Jonathan Hayward at its May 2014 meeting.
The results were generally very positive with some ideas identified for further enhancement to Board papers and risk
reporting. An action plan has been put in place to address these issues. In response to last year’s Board effectiveness survey,
some improvements have already been made to the format and content of the papers sent to the Board, and a review of our
risk management processes has been undertaken and enhancements implemented.
In order to effectively review Board performance and allow open dialogue, the Non-Executive Directors also meet without the
Executive once a year and without the Chairman once a year.

Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the code, all Directors seek re-election every year by Members and any Director appointed during the year
seeks election at the next AGM.

Board Meetings
In 2013-14, the Board had 9 scheduled meetings and 2 additional meetings which were called to deal with issues arising in the
course of the PR14 price review process. Our scheduled meetings are held over two days to give the Board the time it needs
to review progress against strategic objectives and to meet key business managers. In the past year, the strategic issues
focused on by the Board have included: the price review process, innovation, risk, the company’s Vision and Values and
culture change.

Attendance
When a Director is unable to participate in a meeting the Chairman will seek their views on key items ahead of the meeting so
that these can be added to the discussion.

Conflicts of Interest
Under UK company law conflict situations must be authorised in advance to avoid a director being in breach of the statutory
duty. All Directors must immediately disclose conflicts, or potential conflicts, of interest. In addition all Directors sign an
annual declaration and disclose their external appointments.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
External Appointments
Non-Executive Directors may serve on a number of other boards provided they continue to demonstrate the requisite
commitment to discharge effectively their duties. The Chairman will consider this as part of his review of the effectiveness of
each Director. Executive Directors have also been encouraged to gain the experience of sitting on another Board and, subject
to annual approval of their appointment by the Remuneration Committee, are permitted to retain any fees earned from any
such appointment.

Board (11)
Audit (4)
QEC (10)
RemCo (6)

RA
5
2
3
3

CJ
11
4
5
5

PP
11
—
10
—

JB
11
2
10
6

SP
11
—
10
6

JS
11
—
—
6

MR
11
4
—
5

AW
11
—
—
—

JW
8.5
4
—
2

GE
5
—
3
—

NA
4
1
5
—

Robert Ayling (RA); Chris Jones (CJ); Peter Perry (PP); John Bryant (JB); Stephen Palmer (SP); James Strachan (JS); Menna Richards (MR); Anna Walker (AW); John
Warren (JW); Graham Edwards (GE); Nigel Annett (NA).

Notes on attendance
—
Robert Ayling took a six month leave of absence
—
John Bryant began attending Audit Committee whilst Robert Ayling was on his six month leave of absence
—
Nigel Annett and Graham Edwards were only on the Board for part of the year
—
Chris Jones did not routinely attend QEC until his appointment as Chief Executive in September 2013.

REPORTS FROM THE COMMITTEES
Committees
To fulfil its role in the time available, certain responsibilities of the Board are delegated to Committees, which play an
important role in working with management to ensure our business is financially strong, well governed and risks are
identified and mitigated. Each Committee has written terms of reference (which are available on request to the company
Secretary), approved by the Board, summarising the responsibilities delegated to it.
Our principal committees are:
—
Nominations Committee
—
Finance Committee
—
Audit Committee
—
Quality and Environment Committee (‘QEC’)
—
Remuneration Committee
—
Dŵr Cymru Executive Committee
Upon joining a Committee, Directors are provided with an appropriate induction and are offered ongoing training and
education opportunities. After each meeting, a summary of matters discussed is reported to the Board, and committee
minutes are circulated to Directors. The committees can engage the services of such advisors as it needs to fulfil its
responsibilities.
In addition to chairing or being a member of a committee, each Director commits additional time and input on the following
matters: public health (Stephen Palmer), operations (John Bryant and Graham Edwards), customer service and regulation
(Anna Walker), finance and audit (John Warren), finance, regulation and remuneration (James Strachan), communications
and Member relations (Menna Richards) and government and regulation (Robert Ayling).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
A report from the Chairman of the Nominations Committee
Current Chairman: Robert Ayling (except between 1 May and 31 October 2013, during which period Robert Ayling took a
leave of absence from the Board but remained a Director. John Bryant became Chairman during this period.) Members: Each
of the Non-Executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer.
The role of this Committee is to ensure that plans are in place for orderly succession for appointment to the Board. We
therefore look at the size, structure, and composition of the Board (and the skills, knowledge and experience around the
Board table) and, where appropriate, recommend candidates for Board appointment.
This year the Nominations Committee has been involved in identifying a successor to Nigel Annett as Managing Director, and
subsequently a Finance Director to replace Chris Jones and an independent Non-Executive Director to succeed John Bryant. In
order to do this, we engaged the services of Odgers Berndtson and Spencer Stuart respectively to help us.
Welsh Water is committed to promoting diversity, non-discrimination, and equality of opportunity in the way we treat
employees, prospective employees, visitors, clients, customers and suppliers. The Board as a whole takes an interest in the
succession planning at a senior management level. The Board has documented its approach to recruitment in a diversity
policy which it is committed to following.
Neither Odgers Berndtson nor Spencer Stuart has any other connection with the company. Following these processes, Peter
Bridgewater has been appointed as Finance Director with effect from September 2014, and Graham Edwards joined as NonExecutive Director in October 2013.

Finance Committee Report
Members: John Bryant; Robert Ayling (except between 1 May and 31 October 2013, during which period Robert Ayling took a
leave of absence from the Board but remained a Director); Chris Jones; James Strachan and John Warren
The Finance Committee is authorised to approve financing and treasury-related transactions where a decision is required
between meetings of the Board. In 2013 to 2014, the Finance Committee was requested and provided approval for such
decisions on one occasion.
Audit Committee Report
Members: John Warren (Chairman); Robert Ayling (except between 1 May and 31 October 2013, during which period Robert
Ayling took a leave of absence from the Board but remained a Director); Menna Richards and John Bryant.
The Audit Committee met on four occasions during 2013-14. During the early part of the financial reporting year 2014-15, the
Audit Committee has met on a further occasion to discuss in greater detail the issues of judgement around the financial
statements with a view to ensuring that the Annual Report for 2013-14 presents a ‘fair, balanced and understandable’ picture
of the company’s financial status, in accordance with the 2012 revised UK Corporate Governance Code.
The Audit Committee is also supported by the external auditors, PwC, who have been reappointed for a further year ending
on 31st March 2015, prior to which date we intend to initiate a formal tender process to appoint auditors for the next five
year period.
The judgements and issues considered by the Audit Committee to be important background against which to judge our
financial results performance included the following:
For the Interim financial statements:
Daniel Contracting Limited
On 15 May 2013 Daniel Contracting Limited, which had provided a maintenance service contract for Welsh Water covering
both water and sewerage networks for a number of years, went into administration. Welsh Water incurred additional costs of
some £3.8 million as part of the support and subsequent termination of the Daniel contract and the initial set-up of a
replacement contract, all of which was charged to the income statement. At the time of Daniel’s failure, Welsh Water owed
the business up to £3.9m in respect of services provided under this contract. In the event of the Daniel business failing, the
contract provided for Welsh Water to be fully compensated for the full cost of contract termination and appointment of a
replacement contractor. It is the Audit Committee’s judgement that, while the £3.8 million additional costs are unlikely to
prove recoverable, these costs can be offset. £3.2m of this has therefore been released to the income statement to offset
these costs; the remainder has been held on the balance sheet as at 31 March 2014 as retention in respect of recently
completed works.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE cont’d
Capitalisation of support costs
In preparing the financial results for the year to 31 March 2014, management performed a wholesale review of its approach
to the capitalisation of support costs; this formalised the accounting treatment of all support costs that are directly
attributable to the capital programme in order to provide consistency and a robust audit trail. This was approved by the Audit
Committee in May 2013 and did not result in any material change to the overall level of capitalisation. In respect of the year
ended 31 March 2014, all categories and rates of capitalisation have been reassessed by heads of department and the
Financial Controller; the Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the resulting level of capitalisation of £53.9m (2013:
£50.3m).
Infrastructure renewals expenditure (IRE)
It was agreed to carry out a project by project review of the capitalisation of IRE costs at the year end.
For the end of year financial statements:
Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Provisioning for bad and doubtful debts is a sensitive judgement; in making its recommendation to the Audit Committee
management has examined cash collection performance for measured and unmeasured customers during 2013-14 and has
by extrapolation concluded that, over a four-year period, Welsh Water could ultimately expect to collect some 36% of debt
outstanding at 31 March 2014. Collection rates over the past five years have shown a declining trend in cash collection as a
proportion of debt. If this trend were to continue the company might expect not to collect a further 1.4% of measured and
unmeasured debtors. Against a backdrop of continuing economic uncertainty, ongoing deteriorations in collection rates and
the reform of the state welfare system, management considers it appropriate to accommodate this trend in setting the bad
debt provision. Having reviewed and considered the ageing of customer debt at 31 March 2014, historical cash collection
performance and the current economic climate, the Audit Committee concurred that Welsh Water’s bad debt provision be
set at £66m (2013: £61m) which generates a bad and doubtful debt charge for the year (“trade receivables impairment”) of
£28m.
Retirement benefit obligations
Calculation of the defined benefit pension liability for inclusion in the balance sheet in accordance with FRS 17 requires the
use of two key financial estimates, namely the discount rate and future inflation. FRS 17 states that the discount rate should
be derived from the yields of AA-rated corporate bonds. As at 31 March 2014, the yield on the iBOXX Sterling Corporates AA
15+ index was 4.3%. However, the average term of the collection of bonds within the iBOXX index is not long enough to be
equivalent to the term of the scheme’s liabilities, and the yield curve at 31 March was slightly upward-sloping at longer
durations. Management have therefore judged a discount rate of 4.6% to be appropriate (2013: 4.5%). The inflation
assumption has been determined having regard to the difference between the yields available on fixed interest and indexlinked government bonds as well as other sources of inflation forecasting. At 31 March 2014, management considers 3.4% to
be an appropriate inflation assumption (2013: 3.2%). A rate of 2.3% has been used for salary inflation, reflecting RPI-J
forecasts and the value of progression-in-role incremental salary increases. These judgments were reviewed by PwC who
concluded that they lay within an acceptable range. The Committee closely questioned their suitability before concluding that
they were acceptable, for the purposes of the accounts. It was noted that on an actuarial basis, the pension scheme was in
surplus.
Infrastructure renewals expenditure (in respect of statutory accounts prepared under IFRS)
In recent years Welsh Water’s level of infrastructure renewals expenditure has risen and management has undertaken a
review of expenditure to identify any schemes which deliver more than the repair of an asset to maintain its operating
condition for the remainder of its life. The review focused on identifying schemes which resulted in upgraded assets,
extended useful lives, improved operational efficiency, improved strength and/or capacity. The Audit Committee concurred
with management’s judgement that, of a total of £94m of expenditure classified as IRE for regulatory purposes, £22m should
appropriately be classified as capital additions in the statutory financial statements prepared under International Financial
Reporting Standards (2013: £23m).
Measured income accrual
Welsh Water’s billing system generates an estimate of the income due from metered customers for the period between their
last meter reading and the balance sheet date. The estimate is based on consumption over the preceding twelve months and
is reviewed by management as the basis for setting the measured income accrual. As at 31 March 2014, this estimate was
£64.2m, a reduction of £1.7m from 31 March 2013. This is a consequence of a reduction in the average number of days’
accrual, partially offset by growth in the metered customer base and a slight increase in consumption. The Audit Committee
judges this level of accrual to be reasonable.
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Provisions
During the year to 31 March 2014, the level of provisioning has fallen by £41.7m to £245.5m, principally following utilisation
of the restructuring provision (£3.9m) and changes to the defined benefit pension liability as noted above (£22m). The Audit
Committee has reviewed the closing provision and judges the level of provisioning to be adequate.
Derivative financial instruments (in respect of statutory accounts prepared under IFRS)
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are provided by swap counterparties and subject to review by
management. The Bloomberg financial dataset platform allows management to perform an independent valuation of these
contracts which is then compared to the counterparty confirmations. The Audit Committee is comfortable that no material
variances were identified; the instruments have been reported in the financial statements at the values provided by the
counterparties. The total balance sheet liability at 31 March 2014 amounted to £265.0m (2013: £359.2m).
Recognition of intangible fixed assets (in respect of statutory accounts prepared under IFRS)
Intangible additions of £25.6m in the year to 31 March 2014 include £14.2m relating to the replacement of Welsh Water’s
billing system. A further £2.5m relates to research and development expenditure. Management has reviewed the items and
concluded that they have been appropriately capitalised in accordance with IAS 38. During the course of the next regulatory
period Welsh Water plans to invest more heavily in research and development and management will seek to enhance existing
procedures for the capitalisation and financial monitoring of intangible assets. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
approved the level of capitalisation in the year as well as the planned approach in future years of greater investment in this
area.

Other activities of the Audit Committee
During 2013-14, two of the four meetings focused specifically on reviewing the Group’s preliminary and interim financial
results and related areas of judgement and accounting policy.
The Audit Committee places considerable reliance on the active role played by the Business Assurance (Internal Audit)
function within the Group. The Committee approves the Business Assurance detailed annual plan, and receives regular
updates on progress in carrying out the internal audit programme. The Committee takes this opportunity to challenge
management’s assessment of key financial and business risks and the mitigation strategies put in place to address these.
Detailed feedback on the discussions at Audit Committee meetings is provided at Board Meetings, and all Directors receive
copies of the Minutes.
The Committee also receives at each meeting a detailed report on any disclosures since the previous meeting which have
been made under the Board’s whistleblowing policy, and monitors investigations and follow up undertaken as a result of any
whistleblowing disclosure. During 2013-14, this has focused particularly on the outcome of the whistleblowing investigation
into the activities of an employee, who had been placing equipment obtained via Group procurement processes for sale via
an eBay account for his own benefit. That employee has since been dismissed and has pleaded guilty to theft in associated
criminal proceedings which followed. Issues in relation to the process followed by this individual on regulatory reporting
issues have led to Welsh Water restating its figures for reported “Interruptions to Supply” for 2011-12 and 2012-13 and a
complete overhaul of the approach to this measure of regulatory reporting across the business.
Audit Committee has received regular reports from the Compliance Manager on the investigation, which consisted of a root
cause analysis of the enablers of the theft and regulatory reporting issues, and monitoring of action plans put in place to
address the issues identified. The Board was also kept updated on developments in relation to the investigation at every
meeting, and Members were given an overview of the position at both the AGM and December Members’ meeting.
Other topics reviewed by the Committee during 2014/15 included:
reviewing the controls and processes being put in place to address risk management across the business;
reviewing the company’s reporting processes for Ofwat’s Service Incentive Mechanism;
information security issues;
the content of quarterly reports to Glas Cymru’s investors; and
treasury policy and controls, including a detailed review of the bank rating triggers in light of worsening credit
ratings for some of the company’s banks which breached minimum rating thresholds for the liquidity facilities.
The Committee has also received regular updates on the implementation of the new billing system, which is due to be
implemented in Autumn 2014. External audit services are currently provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Our policy is
that the external auditors will not be used for internal audit services, and that all non-audit work above a threshold of
£25,000 will generally be subject to a prior competitive tendering and approval by the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The
figures for non-audit and audit fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during the year 2013-14 appear on page 59 of the
Historical Cost Financial Statements.
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This year, £101,000 (approximately one third of the total fees earned by the auditors) related to non-audit work. These fees
were incurred as a result of work undertaken in connection with the submission of the company’s PR14 Business Plan to
Ofwat and also to carry out a governance review of Project Newid - the development and implementation of the new billing
system.
In the case of both the work to support PR14 and the review of Project Newid, the auditors were only instructed to carry out
this work after a full and thorough assessment of the value case for using the auditor and of the skills and experience that the
auditor would bring to each assignment in the best interests of the company. In each case, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee was consulted prior to the instruction being given.

Quality and Environment Committee Report
Members: Stephen Palmer (Chairman), Robert Ayling, John Bryant, Graham Edwards., Chris Jones, Peter Perry, Ian Christie
(Director of Water Services), Steve Wilson (Director of Waste Water Services), Tony Harrington (Director of Environment),
Steve Brown (Independent Advisor), Andrew Davies (Independent Advisor).
The role of the QEC is to advise the Board on any issue relating to operational policy and practice in relation to public health
and compliance with drinking water and environmental regulations and standards, together with occupational health and
safety issues.
At each meeting of the Committee there are also regular attendees from the wider business with a range of operational
responsibilities. In addition, the Board benefits from two independent advisors. In 2013-14, these were Andrew Davies, who
advised on water quality matters, and Steve Brown who advised on environmental matters
The Committee meets at various sites across the company’s supply area. In 2013-14, these sites included Cardiff, Llyn Alaw,
Baglan, Deganwy, Felindre and Llanelli.
In 2014, the structure of meetings was altered. There are now 8 meetings a year and these will be equally divided between
monitoring performance and strategy. The committee reviews the company’s performance in detail against key water quality,
environmental performance and health and safety indicators, and monitors progress against key strategies aimed at
protecting public health, safeguarding the environment, ensuring the safety of our employees and contractors and delivering
efficient service to our customers.
The Committee also reviews the findings of investigations into any water quality, environmental or customer service failure
(and requires a specific report from the Chief Executive Officer for those deemed serious by the Committee), and maintains
oversight of the programmes of risk management and of internal and external audits. A serious incident review was carried
out regarding the sewer flooding incident in Treorchy. The focus of the Committee is on ensuring:
arrangements for risk management are fit for purpose to identify key risks promptly and manage them
appropriately;
continuous improvement of systems and processes and ensuring staff;
monitoring of the ongoing function of systems and processes and appropriate management oversight; appropriate
lessons are learned from performance failures; and
appropriate strategies and procedures are in place to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements.
A marked improvement in performance over the 2013-14 period is commented upon in detail elsewhere in this Annual
Report, however the topics covered by the Committee in 2013-14 included:
water quality;
service reservoirs;
customer service;
leakage;
flooding;
health & safety issues;
pollution incidents;
performance and considering the performance and considering the impact of likely future developments; and
innovation and strategy.
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The continuing themes pursued by the Committee in reviewing these areas of the business during the year have included an
emphasis on:
the benefits of adopting a systematic approach to identifying root causes of incidents and compliance failures;
the importance of science and innovation to improving our processes and systems and the benefits of
benchmarking initiatives and data analysis;
building relationships of trust with the company’s regulators;
communicating the company’s role and of the communications strategy as a whole;
the value of working on predicting and identifying emerging areas of risk. Identifying where particular areas of risk
are across the business will enable forward planning to deal with these areas; and
developing strategies to ensure compliance with our statutory duties and regulatory requirements.
Water quality and environmental quality performance data referred to in this report is for the calendar year 2013. Other
performance information (such as customer service measures and performance against Ofwat’s DG service standards) is given
for the regulatory reporting year 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

Remuneration Committee
The membership and the role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are described in the 2014 Remuneration
Report. This includes a summary of key issues discussed by the Committee last year and of the remuneration policy and
arrangements approved by the Committee for 2014-15.

Internal control
The Board has overall responsibility for the operation and effectiveness of the group’s system of internal controls and risk
management. The system of controls is designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and comprises
audited policies and procedures aimed at identifying and managing the most significant risks faced by the business.
During 2013, the Board reviewed the approach to risk to ensure that we comply with best practice. A detailed review of risk is
available on page 31.
In considering the development of the system of controls, the management team reviewed the materiality and the relative
cost benefit associated with each identified significant risk. The internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable
assurance against misstatements or loss.
The key features of our system are typical for a business of our scale and complexity. They include:
consideration of acceptable risk parameters set by the Board, particularly in the context of the business planning
process for the purposes of the current price review; identification of key risks and hazards which are measured and
managed to an acceptable level, together with the opportunity to review emerging and current issues at meetings
of the Executive and the Quality and Environment Committee;
clear management accountability for risk management, supported by regular risk reporting to the Board,the
Quality and Environment Committee and the Audit Committee;
controls that recognise that the nature and balance of risk changes and evolves;
procedures that govern the approval and control of major items of capital expenditure, the acquisition and disposal
of material assets, and commitment to any arrangement that gives rise to, or could give rise to, a material liability;
and
financial systems and procedures for preparing consolidated accounts
The Board receives assurance from independent work by Welsh Water’s Reporter (Black & Veatch) and from the programme
of internal and quality audit, the major findings from which are reviewed at the Audit Committee and the Quality and
Environment Committee. A strategic risk update is considered at each meeting of the Board and a strategic review of risk is
considered twice a year under a process chaired by the Chief Executive, who submits an update to the Board of the
Executive’s view of the key strategic risks facing the business.
The process to review the effectiveness of internal control includes discussion with management on significant risk issues and
a review of plans for, and results from, internal and external audit. The Audit Committee reports the results of its review to
the Board which then draws its collective conclusion on the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. In fulfilling this
responsibility, the Board considers periodic reports from the Audit Committee, Quality and Environment Committee and from
management, and relies on its routine monitoring of key performance indicators and monthly reports of financial and
operational performance. This enables the Board to review the effectiveness of the internal control system throughout the
course of the year.
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As part of the work undertaken to review its internal controls on an annual basis, the Board also considers the effectiveness
of its system of internal controls with regard to how these have operated in respect of the specific challenges faced by the
company over the course of the previous reporting period. For 2013-14, the Board found that the internal control processes
accurately identified and enabled the management of the principal risks facing the business.
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DIRECTORS’ PAY AND STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
I am pleased to present the 2014 report from the Remuneration Committee of the Board (‘the Committee’) which provides
details of the remuneration paid to Directors in the financial year 2013-14 and our Remuneration Policy for 2014-15.
Our Remuneration Policy aims to align executive remuneration with the implementation of the company’s strategy to deliver
the best possible outcomes for our customers and to protect the environment. It shows clearly how remuneration is linked to
performance both annually and over the five year regulatory period that will end in March 2015 (‘the AMP5 period’). AMP5 is
the most challenging since privatisation, with price increases for Welsh Water’s customers being kept below the rate of
inflation in each year of the period. To deliver this, Welsh Water has had to reduce controllable operating costs by around
20% while improving customer service performance, meet challenging serviceability targets and deliver a £1.5 billion capital
investment programme. Overall, service performance has improved over the AMP5 period to date, in line with our objectives.
The financial position of the company has further strengthened which will enable the delivery of greater improvement to
customer value in the future. The Committee believes that the performance measures for variable pay - comprising the
Company’s Performance Scorecard (which includes a range of key measures covering drinking water quality, sanitation,
protecting the environment from pollution and customer service), operating cost reduction, Ofwat’s Service Incentive
Mechanism (‘SIM’) measure (an industry wide measure for overall customer service and satisfaction) and growth in customer
equity (i.e. financial reserves being regulatory capital value less net debt) - all support the delivery of these strategic targets.
The Committee undertook a review of remuneration arrangements in 2010-11 and following the Annual General Meeting
(AGM) in 2011 adopted a Policy that was designed to be appropriate for the AMP5 period. On an annual basis thereafter the
Committee has considered whether the overall policy remains appropriate. The Policy approved in 2011 has materially been
applied since its approval in 2011 and it will be applied for 2014-15 in a way that is essentially unchanged from the Policy we
described in the 2013 Remuneration Report (‘the AMP5 remuneration arrangements’).
During the year, the company has started to consider the arrangements over the five year regulatory period that will end in
March 2020. While the details of the arrangements cannot be finalised until after the Final Determination the payment of any
variable pay will continue to be aligned to our strategy, focusing on the three pillars of customer, cost and compliance.
Key points in relation to remuneration for the financial year ending 31 March 2015
Executive Directors’ salaries were increased by 2% in April 2014. This is the same as the 2% general pay award
received by staff.
Under the Annual Variable Pay Scheme (‘AVPS’) the quantum (as a percentage of salary) that can be earned in
2014-15 remains at 100% of salary. We have made some minor changes to the terminology describing the targets
to align with the Business Plan categories of Customer, Cost and Compliance, for example, OPEX is now referred to
as Cost.
Under the Long-Term Variable Pay Scheme (‘LTVPS’) the quantum that can be earned in 2014-15 for the customer
service element is unchanged at 30% of salary. The final staged payment for the customer equity element for 201415 is up to 50% of salary less any interim payments that may be required to be clawed back. No changes to the
Scheme are proposed for this final year of the AMP5 period.
The Committee remains satisfied that whilst the remuneration arrangements include variable elements linked to
performance, the Policy does not encourage undue risk taking which is inappropriate in light of the risk profile of the
Company, and ensures that remuneration levels rise and fall depending on performance. The inclusion of variable elements of
pay also ensures that the Policy is sufficiently competitive to attract and retain high quality staff.
Remuneration paid in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2014 was:
A base salary (which had been increased by 2% in April 2013).
Under the AVPS 2013-14 awards have been made equivalent to 23.2 percentage points (‘%’) of base salary for
performance against the Performance Scorecard, 21.9% for operating cost performance and 4.75% to 8.5% against
Strategic and Personal objectives, making a total award of 49.9% to 53.6% of base salary. This compares with a
maximum of 100% of base salary and awards of 60.6 – 63.6% of salary for performance in 2012-13.
Under the Long Term Variable Pay Scheme 2010 (‘LTVPS’), staged awards may be made under the customer equity
element of the scheme (see page 74). Over the life of the scheme so far, a staged award of 10% of salary was made
in respect of performance in 2010-11, 20% of salary was made in respect of 2011-12, 30% of salary was made in
respect of 2012-13 and, reflecting financial performance in 2013-14 a payment of 40% of salary has been made.
Welsh Water’s provisional ranking was 3rd in the Ofwat SIM league table for 2013-14 which would result in an
award of 15% of salary being made under the Customer Service Award which is calculated on a rolling three year
average.
Nigel Annett stepped down from formal duties as Managing Director on 1 September 2013 and following a
handover with the new Chief Executive, stood down from the company on 31 March 2014. He commenced receipt
of his defined benefit pension and payments accrued within the Employer Funded Retirement Benefit Scheme
(EFBRS) arrangements from 1 April 2014.
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Nigel Annett will receive his accrued AVP award for the full performance year 2013/2014. At the 2013 AGM a
resolution was approved by Members to make a payment to him reflecting his benefits accrued under the LTVPS as
at 31 March 2014. This payment reflects Nigel Annett’s long term contribution to the business and is considered fair
on the basis that he will have completed the pro rata performance period for this staged payment for 2014-15. He
will receive no other employment related payments.
Chris Jones was promoted from Finance Director to Chief Executive with effect from 1 September 2013.
Peter Perry was promoted from Operations Director to Chief Operating Officer with effect from 1 September 2013.
An announcement was made on 14 March 2014 that Peter Bridgewater will join the Boards of Dŵr Cymru and Glas
Cymru Cyfyngedig as the new Finance Director. He is due to join no later than 1 September 2014 on a salary of
£229,500 per annum with a remuneration package in line with our policy for new appointments.
Further details on how our Remuneration Policy functions and how it is implemented in practice can be found in the Policy
and Implementation Reports that follow.
The Government Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (‘BIS’) introduced new regulations governing pay disclosure for
UK quoted companies on 1 October 2013. We have compiled this year’s Remuneration Report to comply as appropriate
where relevant with the new regulations.
We were pleased that the 2012-13 Remuneration Report received a vote of approval at the 2013 Annual General Meeting
(‘AGM’). Two separate resolutions approving the Policy Report and the Annual Report on Remuneration will be put to the
Members at the 2014 AGM.
James Strachan
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
June 2014
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This Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of schedule 8 to the Large and Medium sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 (as amended) and is fully compliant with
provisions of The UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Governance Code’).

POLICY REPORT
Remuneration Policy
The principles and framework of the current Remuneration Policy will be approved by Members at the AGM on 4 July 2014
and if so approved will be effective from the date of the AGM. The Policy aims to align executive remuneration with the
implementation of the company’s strategy to deliver the best possible outcomes for our customers and to protect the
environment. It shows clearly how remuneration is linked to performance both annually and over the five year regulatory
period that will end in March 2015 (‘the AMP5 period’). This is achieved by paying remuneration at levels which are
sufficiently competitive to recruit and retain high quality staff whilst ensuring that the remuneration packages are structured
so as to discourage inappropriate risk taking.
The Policy is delivered by:
Setting levels of base salary and total remuneration that (when assessed periodically against market benchmarking)
are considered to be fair and competitive having regard to an individual’s experience and responsibility.
Encouraging improved performance by having a significant proportion of total remuneration being delivered via
variable pay - although the majority of the target package is base salary to ensure that executives are not
encouraged to take inappropriate risk.
Focusing incentives on the relative performance of Welsh Water – based on independent information published by
Ofwat, the Drinking Water Inspectorate, Natural Resources Wales, the Environment Agency and the Consumer
Council for Water – thereby promoting the objective of producing sector-leading performance in a transparent and
accountable way.
The Committee remains satisfied that whilst the Remuneration Policy includes variable elements linked to performance, the
Policy does not encourage risk taking which is inappropriate in light of the risk profile of the Company, and ensures that
remuneration levels rise and fall depending on performance. The inclusion of variable elements of pay also ensures that the
Policy is sufficiently competitive to attract and retain high quality staff. This in turn ensures that it is well aligned to the long
term success of Welsh Water and the interest of its customers.
The Committee remains satisfied that whilst the Remuneration Policy includes variable elements linked to performance, the
Policy does not encourage risk taking which is inappropriate in light of the risk profile of the company, and ensures that
remuneration levels rise and fall depending on performance. The inclusion of variable elements of pay also ensures that the
Policy is sufficiently competitive to attract and retain high quality staff. This in turn ensures that it is well aligned to the long
term success of Welsh Water and the interest of its customers.
When formulating the Remuneration Policy and the implementation of it, the Committee considers remuneration
arrangements across the business as a whole and considers the impact of the Policy in light of broader social, environmental
and governance issues. The company consults with staff via a single table arrangement with the recognised trade unions to
negotiate salaries for the wider workforce. The Committee considers the agreed increase for the wider employee base and
also reviews market practice and conditions. It should also be noted that the same Performance Scorecard used in the
Executive Directors’ AVPS, and a similar operating cost element, is applied in variable pay arrangements across the
organisation, promoting a unified business culture and consistency in our performance assessment.
The key difference in the remuneration package for senior executives relates to participation in the LTVPS. This plan is
focussed on the long term strategic and financial performance of Welsh Water, and is reserved for those senior executives in
a position to influence such performance.
The Committee actively engages with Members (through regular Member meetings) and other stakeholders and values their
input in helping to shape Welsh Water’s Remuneration Policy.
For the avoidance of doubt, in approving this Directors’ Remuneration policy, authority is given to the company to honour
any commitments entered into with current or former Directors that have been disclosed in previous remuneration reports.
Details of any payments to former Directors will be set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration as they arise as required
under the Remuneration Regulations.
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Discretions retained by the Committee
The Committee operates the Annual Variable Pay Scheme and the Long Term Variable Pay scheme according to the rules of
each respective Scheme and consistent with normal market practice, including flexibility in a number of regards. How the
Committee will retain flexibility includes:
When to make awards and payments.
How to determine the size of an award, a payment, or when and how much of an award should vest.
How to deal with a change of control or restructuring of the Group.
Whether a director is a good/bad leaver for incentive plan purposes and whether and what proportion of awards
vest at the time of leaving or at the original vesting date(s).
What the weighting, measures and targets should be for the Annual Variable Pay Scheme and Long Term Variable
Pay Scheme from year to year.
The Committee also retains the discretion within the policy to adjust targets and/or set different measures and alter
weightings for the Annual Variable Pay Scheme and to adjust targets for the Long Term Variable Pay Scheme if events happen
that cause it to determine that the conditions are unable to fulfil their original intended purpose.

Service Contracts
The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are appointed under letters of appointment terminable by either party on
three months’ written notice. Dates of letters of appointment of the Non Executive Directors were:

Bob Ayling
John Bryant
James Strachan
Stephen Palmer
Menna Richards
Anna Walker
John Warren
Graham Edwards

3 April 2008
5 March 2001
1 June 2007
26 October 2009
22 November 2010
3 March 2011
3 May 2012
1 October 2013

Performance Scenarios
The Committee aims to provide an appropriate proportion of the Executive Directors’ total remuneration through
performance-related variable pay and figure 1 shows a breakdown of the value of the various elements of the remuneration
package, assuming threshold, target and maximum levels of performance are achieved. The aim of the Committee is to
provide, at a target level of performance, for around 60% of the total remuneration package to be fixed and around 40% to
be variable:
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Policy on external appointments
The Board recognises the benefit of broadened experience that might be achieved through the involvement of Executive
Directors in external activities. Any appointment is subject to annual approval by the Committee and, subject to the
Committee’s agreement, a Director may retain any fees.
1. Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors in more detail
Salary
Following a review in March 2014 the Committee has set the base salaries for the Executive Directors for 2014-15 (effective 1
April 2014) as below. This mirrors the average staff increase of 2%. The company consults with staff via a single table
arrangement with GMB, UNISON and UNITE trade unions. During the 2014 general pay award negotiations for staff, details of
Executive Directors’ salaries within Welsh Water and the Water Industry generally were reviewed (figure 2).
During the year a review of the fees payable to Non-Executive Directors resulted in fees being increased by around 1.75%.
Benchmark data provided independently by New Bridge Street (‘NBS’) reflected the new fee as being broadly in line with midmarket levels.
The fees payable for the financial year that commenced on 1 April 2014 are:
Chairman
Senior Independent Director
Non-Executive Director

£212,000 (2013: £208,000)
£68,700 (2013: £67,500)
£58,000 (2013: £57,000)

Annual Variable Pay Scheme (‘AVPS’)
The maximum variable pay that Executive Directors can earn under the AVPS in 2014-15 is unchanged and equates to 100%
of base salary. The achievement of variable pay is assessed across three components, as illustrated in figure 3. Specific targets
for 2014-15 have not been disclosed as they are considered commercially sensitive but will be disclosed next year.

Long Term Variable Pay Scheme 2010 (‘LTVPS’)
The objective of the LTVPS is to align the longer term aspects of total remuneration with company performance over the
course of the five year regulatory period ending on 31 March 2015. The awards comprise a cash payment. Under the LTVPS
two types of cash award can be made:
A Customer Equity Award, which is measured by the creation of customer equity over the regulatory period.
Customer equity is the group’s financial reserves, i.e. regulatory period. Customer equity is the group’s financial
reserves, i.e. regulatory value less net debt (as defined for the purposes of the quarterly Investor Report); and
A Customer Service Award, which is measured by the company’s average ranking in the Ofwat league table for SIM
over the last three years. The Customer Service Award is therefore informed by and rewards, the company’s
relative performance compared with other companies in the sector.
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The LTVPS performance targets reflect the Board’s ambition that Welsh Water should rank alongside the leading companies
in the industry on key measures for customer service and long term financial efficiency for the benefit of customers. SIM is
used for the Customer Service Award and comprises two measures of customer service. One is a qualitative measure
reflecting the results of independent research carried out on behalf of Ofwat to capture customer satisfaction with the
service they have received, and the other a quantitative measure which covers customer complaints and unwanted calls. The
performance targets under each of the LTVPS awards are described more fully in figure 4.

22

DIRECTORS’ PAY AND STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE cont’d
The period over which performance is determined and the potential payment dates over the regulatory period to 31 March
2015 are illustrated in the schematic figure 5. Details of payments made to Executive Directors under LTVPS for 2013-14 are
set out in figure 6, ‘Payments made to Directors’.
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2. What was paid in 2013-14 and link between pay and performance

Payments made to Directors in 2013-14
Figure 6 sets out the Directors’ emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 March 2014 in comparison to year ended 31
March 2013.

Determination of 2013-14 AVPS outcome
Based on overall performance against the scorecard, 58% of maximum was awarded (23.2% of salary against a target of 24%
of salary).
Financial performance in 2013-14 was based on operating cost efficiency. Based on Welsh Water’s level of performance,
54.75% of maximum was awarded (21.9% of salary against a target of 25% of salary).
Based on the Committee’s consideration of the performance against each of the Executive Director’s strategic and personal
objectives 23.75% to 42.5% of maximum was awarded (4.75% to 8.5% of salary against a target of 20% of salary). Objectives
included combined sewer flooding measure from the scorecard, customer satisfaction, improving employee engagement,
increasing the reporting of near miss and dangerous occurrences in the supply chain, introduction of Lean operations and
maintenance processes at a number of sites, cash collection targets and successful engagement with customers on the PR14
proposals

Determination of 2013-14 LTVPS outcome
For the Customer Service element of the scheme, Welsh Water’s SIM rating was provisionally ranked third relative to the SIM
rating of the other water and sewerage companies over the three year performance period to 31 March 2014. As a
consequence, an award of 15% would be payable. The maximum potential is 30% of salary (as per the vesting schedule as set
out in figure 5). However, the final SIM scores for 2013-14 have not yet been published and there is a possibility that Welsh
Water’s ranking for 2013-14 could change. The Committee will monitor this position and describe any different outcomes in
next year’s report.
For the customer equity element of the scheme measured from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2015, a staged payment at the
maximum of 40% of salary has been made. This has been based on the Committee’s determination that customer equity at
31 March 2014 of £1,648 million exceeds projections for meeting the required £100 million in excess of the 2010 business
plan target for full vesting over the life of the plan.
This brings the sum of the staged payments to 100% for the four years of AMP5.

Pension benefits
For the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014, Nigel Annett, Chris Jones and Peter Perry were all members of the DCWW
Pension Scheme (‘the Scheme’), which is a defined benefit arrangement. Benefits accrue at 1/45th of Final Pensionable Salary
per year of Pensionable Service (except for Peter Perry who accrues 1/60th of Final Pensionable Salary for each year of
Pensionable Service), subject to a maximum overall pension at normal retirement age of two-thirds of Final Pensionable
Salary. The Scheme also provides life cover of four times Pensionable Salary for death in service, a pension payable in the
event of retirement due to ill health and a spouse’s pension payable on the death of a member. Executive Directors have the
benefit of private health cover and permanent health insurance cover. The Executive Directors are Lifetime Allowance and/or
Annual Allowance Capped Members of the Scheme and where their Scheme benefits exceed HMRC limits, additional benefits
are provided via an Employer Financed Retirement Benefit Scheme (EFRBS).The company’s obligations under this EFRBS will
not be funded, however such obligations constitute liabilities of the company, payable when they are due.
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The pension benefits earned by the Directors in the Scheme during the year are shown in the table below which has been
audited:

Comparison of overall pay and performance
Figures 8, 9 and 10 show how our pay policy has compared with performance and compare the total pay of our Chief
Executive to year on year growth in customer equity (i.e. financial reserves being regulatory capital value less net debt) over
the previous five years.

Relative importance of spend on pay
It is important that the Committee considers the cost of remuneration in relation to other factors such as company
performance, figure 10 sets out the change in total expenditure total employee remuneration costs and customer equity in
2014 compared to 2013.
Employee remuneration costs rose by 17% due to a number of factors including a number of roles being transferred into the
company and new roles being identified as more contracted services were brought in-house in 2013-14, particularly in the
Business Information Services area. Other factors include pension auto enrolment costs and the 3% pay award in April 2013
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3. How pay is determined
Remuneration Committee
The Committee is chaired by James Strachan. In 2013-14, the other members of the Committee were Robert Ayling, John
Bryant, Anna Walker and John Warren. The Board considers that all the members of the Committee are independent and, in
the case of Robert Ayling, that he was considered to be independent on his appointment as Chairman of the Company. The
Chief Executive and the Director of Human Resources attend meetings of the Committee by invitation (except where their
own remuneration is discussed) and the Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. The Committee was
convened on four occasions in 2013-14.
The role of the Committee is to approve, implement and keep under review the Remuneration Policy of the Board
and specifically to agree the Policy and framework and service contracts for the remuneration of the Chairman and
the Executive Directors and the remuneration framework for certain senior managers (the Dŵr Cymru Executive
and Leadership Teams); and
To determine variable pay arrangements that encourage and recognise good performance and that reward
individuals in a fair and responsible manner for their contribution to the success of the Company.
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In 2013-14, the Committee received independent advice from New Bridge Street (‘NBS’), a trading name of Aon Hewitt
Limited (an Aon plc company). NBS is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants Group Code of Conduct and any advice
given is governed by the Code. NBS advised on market best practice in the design of incentive performance arrangements,
the benchmarking of Directors’ remuneration and fees and provided general remuneration advice to the Committee. During
2013-14 NBS received fees amounting to £41,923 in relation to advice provided to the Committee and did not provide any
other advice to the Company. The Committee also sought advice and information from Quantum Actuarial LLP (pension data).
The Committee has concluded that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to these organisations supporting both the
Committee and the Company in the implementation of its decisions.
During 2013-14, the activities of the Committee included:
approving the 2013 Remuneration Report;
assessing performance achieved against the conditions attached to the 2013-14 AVPS and LTVPS and agreeing
awards to be made to participants;
reviewing salaries and AVPS for the broader executive and leadership teams;
conducting a review of the incentive plan structure in readiness for AMP6;
consideration of remuneration and pension trends and best practice;
determining the salary of the Executive Directors and the Chairman’s fee for 2014-15; and
determining the total remuneration for the Managing Director and Finance Director of DCCS Ltd.
At last year’s AGM, Members voted in favour of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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This Report should be read in conjunction with the Corporate Governance Report and The Audit Committee Report, which
collectively constitute the Directors’ Report. Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig (Company number 03975719) is a company limited by
guarantee incorporated in England and Wales. Our registered office is Pentwyn Road, Nelson, CF46 6LY.
The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for stakeholders to assess the company’s performance, business model and strategy. In
order to arrive at this position, the Board were assisted in the following ways:
Annual Report was drafted by senior management and overall co-ordination overseen by the Company Secretary
and Director of Communications to ensure consistency.
Reviews of drafts undertaken by Members of the Executive team and a verification process involving the Reporter
and the company’s auditors, has been undertaken.
The final draft was reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to review and approval by the Board, and submission to
Members for approval.
The Board has prepared a Strategic Report which provides a summary of the development and performance of the company’s
business in the year ended 31 March 2014 and covers likely future developments.
Directors: The names of the Directors are given on page 1 of this document.
All Directors served throughout the year ended 31 March 2014 except Graham Edwards who joined the Board in October
2013. At the 2014 AGM, John Bryant will stand down, Graham Edwards will formally stand for election for the first time and
all other Directors will stand for re-election. This will meet the requirement under our Articles of Association for one third of
Directors to retire by rotation. The Board has endorsed the effectiveness and commitment (and, in respect of the NonExecutive Directors, the independence) of the Directors and recommends each for re-election. Further details are set out in
the Notice of the 2014 AGM which will take place on Friday 4th July 2014. The Non-Executive Directors’ letters of
appointment are made available for public inspection.
No Director has, or has had, a material financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract significant to the company’s
business and the Board has not been requested to use, and has not used, its discretion under Article 57 of Glas Cymru’s
Articles of Association which allows the approval of a potential conflict of interest. Details of the remuneration of individual
Directors and of the remuneration strategy approved by the Board are included in the Remuneration Report for the year
ended 31 March 2014 contained in this Annual Report. A resolution will be proposed at the 2014 AGM to approve the 2014
Remuneration Report.
The company has in place Directors’ and Officers’ insurance giving cover against legal action brought against the Directors
and an indemnity in circumstances where a director has not acted fraudulently or dishonestly. The indemnity is a qualifying
indemnity for the purpose of the Companies Act and is for the benefit of all Directors. No claims have been made against this
policy since the date of the last report.
Employees: At 31 March 2014, the Group had 2,954 employees. Our success is dependent upon our having highly committed
and motivated people and in other sections of this annual report we describe how we are engaging with colleagues and
developing the talent and core competence of the business.
We do will not discriminate against applicants or employees on the basis of age, disability, gender reassignment, marital or
civil partner status, pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or belief, sex or sexual
orientation (“protected characteristics” in accordance with the Equality Act 2010) or any other personal characteristic. If an
employee is disabled or becomes disabled, we consider any reasonable adjustments that would help overcome or minimise
the difficulty. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career development and promotion of a disabled person should,
as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability.
Occupational Health and Safety: We are committed to high standards of occupational health and safety and over the period
2013-14 our like-for- like performance improved with fewer RIDDOR accidents. More information on our health and safety
strategy and performance is provided in our 2014 Occupational Health and Safety Report which is available on our website.
Research and Development: Our research and development work has focused on two main areas, developing and deploying
new technology, and understanding our impact on the environment and how best to mitigate this. Our Independent
Environmental Advisory Panel made up of regulators, academics and environmental stakeholders continues to advise the
business on research and environmental matters. The Panel has also been instrumental is assisting us with the design of our
research proposals for the next investment period. The panel has also assisted us both to tap into the expertise and resources
available in such bodies and build our relationships with them, so as to leverage funding and expertise into our research.
More generally, we have driven elements of the national research and development agenda by participation in water industry
research initiatives, most notably through membership of UK Water Industry Research Limited which manages and
coordinates the research interests of UK water companies. We have also held two annual innovation workshops, involving a
wide range of universities, technology companies, suppliers and others to develop our 25-year innovation strategies for
water, wastewater and customer services.
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Greenhouse gases: The release of greenhouse gases (GHG) has an impact on climate change which, either directly or
indirectly, presents considerable risks both to the business and the environment. The Group seeks to reduce its releases of
greenhouse gases were possible. In 2007, as part of its Strategic Direction statement Welsh Water set itself the targets of
reducing operational carbon emissions by 25% by 2015 and by 50% by 2025 from the 2007/08 levels. Our energy use (mainly
from Grid electricity) accounts for around 85% of operational carbon emissions and is our second largest operating cost (after
people). Almost all of this comes from the operational businesses. Our entire offices and transport fleet account for less than
5% of the annual total emissions between them.
2

2

During the year our carbon emissions fell by 13 ktCO or 5% percent to 243 ktCO (256 in 2012/13). The biggest single factor
was as a result of a significant reduction in the carbon content of the electricity grid from last year (this factor is based on the
proportion of electricity derived from each source – more wind and nuclear in the mix means lower carbon). Our own
2
reductions came mainly from increased on-site renewable energy generation (up by 6 GWh (3 ktCO ) to 43 GWh). With
further projects in delivery for 2014/15 we remain on track to hit our 2015 target for carbon emissions.
For consistency across all our reports, we report carbon based on the Defra methodology for reporting to OfWat. Under the
2
Defra/DECC guidelines for annual reporting, the figure is 249 ktCO e (equivalent not previously reported). The difference is
made up mainly from the impact of chemical usage, principally granular activated carbon (GAC).
Corporate Social Responsibility: We have a firm commitment to environmental responsibility and to being a good neighbour
and a trusted partner in the communities we serve. To earn this trust, we have to show that we behave fairly and responsibly
in the interests of customers, that we use resources wisely, and that we make an appropriate contribution to community.
Examples from 2013/14 include our education centres, Rainscape and Stop the Block campaigns, also a wide range of
ecological and biodiversity related projects such as work to regenerate upland peat bogs, and protect the quality of our raw
water sources.
Political Donations: It is Board policy not to make donations to political parties or to incur political expenditure and during
2013/14 no donations or payments were made which are required to be disclosed under section 366 of the Companies Act
2006.
Welsh Language Scheme: We welcome dealing with customers and other stakeholders in Welsh or English and aim to provide
an effective standard of service in both languages. Our Welsh Language Scheme is an approved scheme under the provisions
of the Welsh Language Act 1993 and we are working closely with the Welsh Language Commissioner’s office to prepare for
the implementation of the provisions of the Welsh Language Measure 2011.
Events after the Financial Year-End: There have been no post balance sheet events.
Annual General Meeting: The 2014 AGM will be held on Friday 4 July 2014 in Swansea. The business for the AGM includes the
approval of the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements and the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2014
and approval of the Remuneration Policy, the re-election of all Directors, a resolution to authorise the Company to make
donations to EU political organisations and to incur EU political expenditure up to defined limits and resolutions to reappoint
the auditors and to authorise the Audit Committee to fix their fees. These resolutions are all matters of ordinary business
there is no special business. Further information in respect of all resolutions is provided in the Notice of 2014 AGM sent to
the Members of Glas Cymru with this report.
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
prepared the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a fair, balanced and understandable view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statement on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business.
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The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statement comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those regulations.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Going Concern: The Directors are satisfied that the business has adequate resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as the auditors to the Glas Cymru Group for the accounts for the year ended 31
March 2014. As part of the audit process we have confirmed that as far as each Director is aware there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware and that they have taken steps to be made aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. A resolution to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers will be put to Members at the 2014 AGM.
By order of the Board

Nicola Williams
General Counsel and Company Secretary 24 June 2014
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We know that effective risk management is central if we are to achieve our strategic priorities. There are a number of
commercial risks and uncertainties that could have a significant operational, financial and reputational impact and we invest
substantial resources to identify, analyse and manage these challenges:
each member of our leadership team maintains a detailed register of risks, reviewed monthly with their teams. The
significant risks from each team are reported to and reviewed at one of the Executive meetings each month;
these risks are then ‘mapped’ to the current Board Strategic Risks to ensure that there are no gaps and to give a
view as to the current status of each risk, taking account of the effectiveness of mitigation steps in place;
a Strategic Risk Analysis Report, showing the mapping of current issues and mitigations in place against each
Strategic Risk is included in the papers for each Board meeting and consideration of the report is an agenda item;
each risk on the Strategic Risk Analysis Report is owned by an Executive Member to ensure consistency and
accountability;
every six months the Board reviews whether they believe the risks listed remain the most important risks and a new
list of strategic risks is agreed; and
Audit Committee has accountability for overseeing the risk management processes and procedures, and reports to
the Board.
The long term success of the Group depends on identifying, assessing and managing risks effectively and all colleagues play a
part in our approach to risk management. This bottom up and top down approach to risk management provides assurance
that risks are being effectively managed by the business to identify those areas where further mitigation steps are needed
and to assist the Board in reviewing strategic risks facing the business.
The Board considers that the principal risks and uncertainties affecting the business activities of the company include the
following:

KEY RISKS AND KEY MITIGATIONS
1
HEALTH AND SAFETY MAJOR INCIDENT
The Health and Safety of our employees and the public in the provision of our services and on our sites is our utmost priority.
The risk of a major health and safety incident would include the potential for an accident to a member of the public, on one
or our sites or as a result of our actions, or to an employee in discharging their duties.
Welsh Water has a Health and Safety Strategy and Management Plan in place with operational procedures accredited by
Occupational Health and Safety Advisory Services. The importance of Health and Safety is highlighted through communication
and awareness plans. We run comprehensive training programmes for our colleagues. This year’s focus was given to a
behavioural safety training programme called ‘Safety Takes Every Person’. There are also quarterly Director led Safety Days,
an annual Health and Safety Conference, and Trade Union Health and Safety Consultative Forums are run at both company
and operational levels. Health and Safety performance is reported to Dŵr Cymru Executive, Board and the Quality and
Environment Committee.
2
RISK OF MAJOR PUBLIC HEALTH INCIDENT
Any problem affecting drinking water quality (e.g. cryptosporidium or bacteriological failure) could cause our customers to
become ill, and would require a widespread boil water notice in order to protect public health, causing disruption to our
customers. Such an incident could also lead to a prosecution.
Welsh Water has Drinking Water Strategies in place which are signed off by the Head of Water Quality and Director of
Potable Water Services and monitored by the Quality and Environment Committee. A capital investment programme called
‘Go to Green’ is underway to build or refurbish 12 Water Treatment Works at a cost of some £120 million. A review of data is
being undertaken to seek areas of potential risk and to prioritise areas for improvement.

3
BUSINESS PLAN 2015 TO 2020 (PR14) OUTCOME
This has been a year of uncertainty around future investment plans and levels of bills for all water and wastewater
companies, while the outcome of the 2014 price review process (PR14) and the final determination on these issues by the
economic regulator, Ofwat,is awaited. The eventual outcome could impact on the company’s investment plans for 2015 to
2020, financing methods and credit rating. A very challenging determination could make it impossible to deliver our planned
investment, raising long-term risks to customer service, asset reliability and operational performance
Our Business Plan had strong customer endorsement and we will continue to engage closely with Ofwat to promote the best
long-term outcomes for our customers
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4
CUSTOMER DEBT
Changes to the benefit system and continuing squeezed living standards put cash collection at risk.
We continue to promote our assistance scheme and range of social tariffs for those customers who are genuinely struggling
to pay their bills. A new scheme is planned to be launched from April 2015, which will aim to increase the number of potential
recipients from among those customers who have difficulty in paying our bills from 60,000 to 100,000. In order to keep bills
to as low a level as possible, a new litigation team has been created using our recently updated Tallyman III debt
management system to improve debt recovery from those who do have the means to the pay.
5
FAILURE TO ACHIEVE COST REDUCTIONS
The risk that the company will be unable to achieve its cost reductions over the next year and into the next regulatory
investment period to meet the stringent targets set in our PR14 Business Plan.
A cost reduction plan has been created for 2014-15 to ensure we meet the requirements of the Ofwat 2009 price review
determination. Welsh Water is developing a wide range of cost reduction initiatives for the coming five years, to reduce both
operating and capital costs and support the challenging goals set out in our proposed plans for this period. This will be
supplemented by budget management with clear escalation controls.
6
MARKET REFORMS AND THE CONTINUED DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPETITIVE MARKET
The risk of potential changes to the market including the introduction of retail competition for business customers, which will
involve significant changes to regulation as a result of the implementation of the Water Act 2014.
A Market Opening Steering Group has been established to consider implications for the business and we are closely following
developments in the sector. Our business strategy is aimed at delivering high quality, high value services to our customers at
a competitive price.
7
INCREASED ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
Changed interpretations or enforcement of existing regulations, or new regulatory standards could impose significant costs
on us or on the sector as a whole.
We continue to work closely with our Independent Environmental Advisory Panel to seek best value for both our customers
and the environment.
We sponsor research and other studies to provide evidence to policy makers to support better decision making. We maintain
regular structured dialogue with key stakeholders, including direct liaison with Welsh Government, UK Government’s
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and our trade association, Water UK, to evaluate any such new or
modified regulatory standards
8
COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
We have important obligations to provide complete and accurate information to our regulator. A failure to meet these
obligations could lead to significant penalties. A review of our reporting of regulatory data has identified some areas where
our procedures for ensuring accuracy of reporting and compliance with reporting requirements can be enhanced.
A new Compliance Team has been put in place during the year. This is focused on assisting the business to ensure compliance
with regulatory reporting requirements and to monitor best practice developments in this area.
9
POTENTIAL DETERIORATION IN PERFORMANCE
While 2013/14 was probably the strongest year yet for Welsh Water in terms of overall operational performance, we are not
complacent and have taken steps to guard against a deterioration in this performance. Sustained deterioration in
performance over two years could lead to a ‘marginal’ serviceability assessment and the risk of a penalty at a following price
review.
Operational strategies for Water Quality and Wastewater are regularly reviewed by the Executive Team, with capital
investment targeted as appropriate to mitigate the performance risk. Operational performance is tracked through the
Executive and Quality and Environment Committee.
10
STRATEGIC ASSET FAILURE
A strategic asset or network failure could lead to flooding or loss of supply for thousands of customers.
We have a detailed asset strategy and asset maintenance plan to reduce the risk of unanticipated asset failure. Where
incidents do occur, there are strict emergency incident response procedures to be followed by operations teams. We have a
comprehensive reservoir safety strategy and surveillance programme. In addition, we have had positive feedback on external
security audits this year and will continue to build on the measures taken to ensure security of our assets.
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11
ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY, SUCCESSION ISSUES AND CULTURE CHANGE
A lack of engaged or capable employees could result in poor customer service or compliance, and exacerbate other identified
strategic risks.
Welsh Water undertakes an annual talent and resource review and develops employees at all levels throughout the company.
There are graduate, trainee and apprenticeship programmes as well as competent operator programmes and leadership
development. Where appropriate and necessary, there is also targeted external recruitment.
Welsh Water undertakes an employee engagement review annually and the Board monitors and reviews the results. This
year the level of employee engagement achieved was 79%. This is the highest engagement level achieved to date. A
comprehensive action planning process has been developed to address issues raised.
12
ICT RISK
A major loss of ICT service would put business performance at risk. In addition, several business improvement plans are
reliant on new ICT systems.
A Director led Systems and Change Board (internal management committee) was created to oversee a major ICT delivery
programme, and the in-house ICT team has been increased to meet these requirements. In 2013/14, attention has been given
to improving systems, ICT security and document retention.
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MEASURING OUR PROGRESS
Our business planning is structured around eight key ‘outcomes’ that have driven performance since the publication of ‘Our
Sustainable Future’ in 2007 and used also in our latest Business Plan for 2015 to 2020.
With challenging but deliverable targets set for each outcome, this provides a consistent and transparent platform for
allowing us to measure our operational, environmental, financial and customer performance in order to determine our
progress.
By delivering these outcomes and supplementary measures, we will deliver improving value for money for customers, both
now and for future generations. These underpin our long-term plans and are designed to respond to emerging issues and
challenges so that we can continue to earn the trust of our customers long into the future.

1. HIGH QUALITY DRINKING WATER
INTRODUCTION
We know that supplying safe drinking water at all times is our most important responsibility. Providing 800 million litres of
high quality, clean tap water to our customers every day – the equivalent of over 320 Olympic sized swimming pools — makes
a vital contribution to public health and so we know that it must be free from harmful chemicals and bacteria and have a
good taste.
To help achieve this, we only abstract for public supply around 3% of ‘effective rainfall’ in Wales whilst carrying out more
than 1,000,000 tests every year at our state of the art laboratories on samples taken from our various water sources (lakes,
rivers and reservoirs). A further 400,000 tests are taken and analysed under regulations monitored by the Drinking Water
Inspectorate (DWI) and assessed against a unique and extensive set of standards set by EU Directives and UK legislation.
HIGHLIGHTS
In 2013, the high quality of the water we supply improved even further with 99.97% (2012: 99.96%) of samples taken and
analysed meeting drinking water quality standards at customer taps. With only a single bacteriological failure (2012:3) at our
water treatment works, we have again met our performance targets on four of the six key measures used by the DWI to
measure water quality compliance at each point of the water supply system. We also achieved better than the industry
average on four of these six key indices.
Based on our Drinking Water Safety Plans, we are building on this success by identifying and addressing potential risks to tap
water (from source to tap). Due to changing raw water quality, these problems have been more acute in North Wales and so
we are well advanced in building brand new water treatment works at Llyn Conwy near Betws-y-coed (£15 million), Alwen on
the Denbigh Moors (£10 million), Alaw (£17 million) and Cefni (£15 million) on Anglesey, Dolbenmaen near Porthmadog (£28
million) and Bont-goch in Mid Wales (£9 million). Our new £9 million service reservoir at Coed Dolwyd is also now fully
operational giving 70,000 customers in the Colwyn Bay and Llandudno areas additional security of supply.
CHALLENGES FACED
Iron is one of the main causes of discoloured water in our customers’ homes and businesses and this remains a concern as we
came below this year’s target of 99.70% by only achieving 99.54% compliance. Notwithstanding the water mains renewal
programme of the last ten years which includes recently renewing 13km of iron water mains in Hereford and Newport at a
cost of £2 million, we still have more than 6,500km of unlined iron mains which can cause discoloured water. Whilst we will
continue to address this between 2015 and 2020, it remains a significant risk and will remain a major challenge for us,
especially in ‘hotspots’ such as Herefordshire, Holywell and Mold, Cardiff and Newport.
The extreme weather patterns over the past 12 months placed our network under severe pressure. A prolonged hot and dry
summer saw an increased demand for water with supplies increasing to just under 1,000 million litres a day – the highest
level for a number of years. However, after tankering additional supplies to many of our service reservoirs, we generally
coped well despite having to manage pockets of low pressure and discolouration across the network. Whilst this was directly
linked to a 30% increase in customer calls during July compared to the rest of the year, our customer contact rate of 2.02 per
1,000 customers in 2013 was lower than the previous year (2012: 2.14). Despite this challenging period where dedicated
leakage resources were diverted to maintain water supplies, we still managed to achieve our challenging leakage target for
the year.
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This dry period was then followed by an exceptionally wet and windy winter which culminated in unprecedented power
failures and flooding at some of our water treatment sites and pumping stations in February 2014. Maintaining our services
during this period was challenging with generators being utilised as contingency measures at all 66 of our water treatment
works at one point. Whilst ensuring that drinking water supply to our customers was maintained during this exceptional
weather in 2013 to 2014 resulting in additional costs, this extra resourcing helped us avoid any further widespread disruption
to services.
LOOKING AHEAD
As part of our plans to maintain a reliable water supply during exceptional weather events, we have now published our 25
year Water Resource Management Plan to ensure that there will be sufficient water to meet the future requirements of our
customers. We have also finalised our Drought Plan because although we have not had to introduce water restriction
measures in over 25 years, we still need to understand and plan how we would respond to such extreme weather conditions.
This will enable us to prepare and implement the best possible solutions so that we continue to meet customer demand
during exceptionally dry periods whilst also safeguarding the environment.

2. PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
INTRODUCTION
To provide our essential public service and protect public health, we rely on the environment to abstract water from it, then
treat it before supplying it for customers to use. We then collect it again before screening, treating it and returning it to our
rivers and seas. With over 4,600 miles of rivers and a 1,000 mile coastline, our stewardship of the environment is crucial to
the long term interest of our customers.
We need to ensure that our assets operate effectively and are able to treat sewage and discharge effluents in line with the
permit conditions issued by our regulators, Natural Resources Wales and the Environment Agency, so that we can protect
wildlife, habitats and other users of these waters.
HIGHLIGHTS
Our sewer network has generally performed well in most parts over the past 12 months despite the extreme weather
conditions. The number of reported pollution incidents at 124 was at its lowest level ever, a 40% reduction on 2012 (205).
This figure is even more striking when compared to pre 2009 levels when the number of annual pollution incidents often
exceeded 300.
Over the past 12 months, we have invested £62 million in improving our wastewater network and improved operational
processes. This included a£7 million new stormwater storage tank at Heswall Wastewater Treatment Works the size of three
Olympic swimming pools which has improved water quality in the Dee Estuary. A further example is the £2.5 million invested
at Bynea, Llanelli, to replace 1km of sewer main to increase capacity on the network and improve its performance during
storm weather conditions.
Our 834 wastewater treatment sites have performed well during the year and coped with the additional volumes of water
from heavy winter rainfall. We now have the best record in the industry for pollution incidents per 100 treatment assets and
whilst the number of works failing to fully comply with discharge permits has increased slightly since 2012, from 8 to 12, we
remain within the target set by Ofwat.
Our investment in the sewer network and wastewater treatment works is delivering real results as demonstrated by the 33
Blue Flags awarded to bathing waters in Wales in 2013. With increasingly higher standards to meet, we know that bathing
waters are important to the Welsh tourism economy which already accounts for some 14% of GDP and our £1 billion
investment over the past decade reflects our commitment to safeguarding the environment which is a national asset.
With over 2,000 blockages a month in our sewer network at a cost of over £7 million a year, we must also work with our
customers to protect our environment. In addition to our 24-hour pollution hotline and web-based reporting application, we
launched an ambitious new campaign in 2013 called ‘Let’s Stop the Block’. Targeted at customers in ‘hotspot’ areas across
Rhondda Cynon Taff and Caerphilly that have a history of sewer blockages, we delivered a collaborative behavioural change
campaign which encouraged them not to flush away everyday items (e.g. cotton buds and sanitary products) and fats, oil and
grease. Subsequent customer research showed that 40% of customers were aware of the campaign which led to a 30%
reduction in the number of sewer blockages in these communities during the campaign. Our customer research also shows
that reducing leakage remains a top priority as we balance the volume of water we take from the environment against the
demand for water from our customers. Since the 1990s, we have halved leakage on our water supply system and we have
made good progress this year with leakage at 183.75 megalitres a day and therefore met our target.
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We have also continued to work with customers in this area and our ‘Wrap Up Wales’ winter campaign, in collaboration with
representative organisations such as Age Cymru, was aimed at improving awareness about the need to protect household
water pipes from freezing and led to more than 1,500 insulation kits being given to customers as part of the campaign.
Supporting customer education continues to be one of our main areas of community support. Our ongoing outreach
programme, combining both school visits and site visits to our education centres, helps us show young people the importance
of preserving water and protecting the environment. Since 1997, over 164,000 pupils have visited one of our four education
centres. They offer a wealth of information which is developed with educational experts and linked to the national
curriculum.
Due to the success of the centres, our outreach programme has been extended with teachers now regularly visiting schools to
educate pupils on the key messages underpinning our behavioural change campaigns. In the last academic year, around
40,000 pupils have taken part in these workshops.

CHALLENGES FACED
Despite having delivered 28 investment schemes in 2013 to reduce the number of properties at risk of internal sewer
flooding, we know that this remains a risk for some customers. It is the worst possible type of service failure, and although we
were ahead of target for most of 2013, we were significantly impacted by the exceptionally wet weather in late 2013.
This year, we experienced serious internal sewer flooding in two separate incidents in December 2013 (Treorchy in South
Wales and Holyhead in North Wales) but we managed to avoid more widespread incidents by pumping millions of additional
gallons of surface water through the sewer network whilst also mobilising tankers to remove any excess flows. This placed
additional cost pressures on the company with an extra £2 million being spent on electricity in January and February 2014
alone.
We continued to work hard to reduce pollution incidents, and in 2013, there were only 2 serious pollution incidents (2012: 6),
the lowest number in England and Wales. Whilst one was beyond our control and caused by ground movement in
Aberystwyth, Mid Wales, the other was as a result of the poor condition of our rising sewer main serving customers in Rhyl
and Kinmel Bay in North Wales. Having caused a number of operational challenges over recent years, we decided to replace
this sewer and the £4.5 million investment will now be completed in late 2014.
During the year, we also continued to work collectively with local stakeholders, through the Llyn Padarn Forum, to identify
ways of improving water quality in the lake. In July 2013, Natural Resources Wales’ (NRW) report investigating the 2009 algal
bloom outbreak found that nutrient levels in the final effluent from Llanberis Wastewater Treatment Works had impacted on
water quality. While these effluent levels did not breach the discharge limits set at the time by the NRW, we have invested
over £2.5 million in our works to ensure we comply with the new limits. We have also been involved, during the year, in High
Court proceedings brought by Fish Legal (representing anglers in the local area) against NRW, which challenged the decision
making process of the NRW in issuing a Notice to us to remediate the lake under the Environmental Damage (Protection and
remediation) (Wales)Regulations 2009.
We will continue to try to work proactively with all stakeholders to protect the ecology of the lake.

LOOKING AHEAD
We know that operating our estate of ageing wastewater treatment works so that we continue to protect our rivers and
coastal waters which are among the best in the UK – will remain one of our toughest challenges. We will continue to work
closely with Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales and other relevant bodies to strengthen our collaborative
approach to protecting and enhancing our natural environment. This will also include planning for the next cycle of the Water
Framework Directive which will commence in 2015 and provide further guidance as how best to protect the water
environment.
After the successful transfer of the private sewer network in 2011 which doubled the size of our sewer network, we are now
managing the adoption of an estimated 800 private pumping stations by 2016. There remains a lot of uncertainty over the
exact number and whereabouts of these assets but we started the transfer programme in 2013 with the adoption of around
six stations per week.
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3. RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE
INTRODUCTION
Climate change is one of the greatest challenges we all face today. Whilst we have started to take steps to ensure our
network is able to cope with the extreme and highly variable weather conditions, we understand that we need to invest to
develop innovative ways to maintain a more robust and sustainable network into the future.
HIGHLIGHTS
In preparation for more frequent extreme weather events, we have made real progress in 2013 with the roll out of our new
innovative surface water management approach called RainScape. This involves retrofitting sustainable urban drainage
systems to capture, divert or slow down the rate at which rainwater enters our sewer network. This not only reduces the risk
of flooding or pollution from overloaded sewers following heavy rainfall and helps us to limit the spills from consented
sewage outfalls but it is more cost effective and sustainable and also improves local eco-systems by creating greener and
cleaner places to live.
Our £12 million flagship RainScape project in Llanelli is now well underway and is already delivering real environmental
benefits by removing more than 12,000m3 of surface water from the local sewer network. We plan to invest over £40 million
in 70 different schemes across Llanelli between 2015 and 2020 which is a much cheaper alternative than the £600 million
required to build traditional storage solutions. Our industry-leading scheme won the Environmental Category in the Institute
of Water Innovation Award 2013 and was more recently awarded the Sustainable Drainage and Flood Management Initiative
of the Year at the Water Industry Achievement Awards 2014.
Working with customers is key in helping us respond to the challenges of climate change and this is why we invested a further
£150,000 in 2013 in our Water Framework Directive Fund. This offers financial assistance to not-for-profit organisations for
projects that will deliver improvements to the quality of our rivers, lakes and waterways and which will create a more vibrant
and healthy environment for people and wildlife. Organisations that have benefited this year include the Healthy Rivers
Project by Groundwork Caerphilly which aims to remove barriers to fish migration as well as promoting and facilitating
volunteering opportunities on projects linked to rivers.
As one of the largest energy users in Wales with an annual energy bill of £44 million, a key challenge involves reducing our
carbon footprint. We have continued to develop renewable energy projects to help power our sites more sustainably, and
during 2013, we generated a record 43 GWh of renewable energy, saving 21,000 tonnes of carbon. One of the main schemes
to be completed in 2013 was our largest ever solar scheme at Bolton Hill Water Treatment Works in Pembrokeshire. Our £2
million investment in our solar energy sites now helps us save over £230,000 every year. This complements our energy
generation from anaerobic digestion and hydro sources, bringing the number of our sites generating green energy to 30.
CHALLENGES FACED
The exceptional wet weather in winter 2013 led to the wastewater business incurring around £25,000 a day more than
average on electricity through January and February. However, due to our green energy generation and efficiency measures
throughout the year, we only needed to buy 417 GWh of electricity over the year 2% lower than the previous year. In
addition, the amount of renewable energy produced from our anaerobic digestion plants was 40GWh, (2012: 35GWh).
Electricity accounts for 85% of our carbon emissions and with the reduction in our usage, together with a reduction in the
carbon content of Grid electricity, carbon emissions were 7% lower than the previous year at 241,637 tonnes.
While our water treatment works treat water to the highest standards to ensure customers receive a safe supply, we face
issues at times with the quality of the raw water entering the works. While this does not affect the final quality of the drinking
water, we need to understand why it occurs so that we can avoid such issues in future. On Anglesey, we are working as part
of a wider group, which includes North Wales Wildlife Trust, to help restore 750 hectares of very rare peat-rich wetland.
Restoring the wetland will help improve water quality upstream of our Llyn Cefni reservoir.
LOOKING AHEAD
We are proud to build on the success of our RainScape in Llanelli with the launch of a similar initiative in Cardiff in 2014. This
latest scheme, called ‘Greener Grangetown’, will involve working directly with City of Cardiff Council and Natural Resources
Wales and is part of our longer term plan to introduce around 100 RainScape schemes across our operating area by 2020.
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Our recently published Water Resource Management Plan, outlining how we will maintain a sustainable balance between
water supplies and demand over the next 25 years specifically reviews the impact of climate change on our water resources
and this again will help us safeguard a reliable supply of drinking water to our customers.
In terms of energy generation, we will continue to invest in hydro and solar energy projects as well as erect our first wind
turbine in 2014 at Nash Wastewater Treatment Works in Newport. The turbine, which will generate enough energy to power
50% of the site, will save over £500,000 per year and also 2,000 tonnes of carbon annually.

4. EXCELLENT CUSTOMER SERVICE
INTRODUCTION
As a company, our primary focus is our customers and we want to deliver the best possible service so that customers can
trust us and rely on us to always do the right thing. We hope that customers rarely have reason to contact us but when they
do need to get in touch, it’s important that we aim to put things right, first time, every time.
HIGHLIGHTS
We have maintained our high standards of customer service in 2013 with independent research carried out each month
showing that customer satisfaction has remained consistently over 90%. This has ranked Welsh Water joint second in the
industry league table for this key measure. This success can be attributed to our bespoke customer services training including
our Contact Centre call handler programme and our ‘How2Wow’ initiative which has benefited over 600 colleagues across the
water and wastewater services.
Over the past 12 months, we have reduced the need for customers to contact us about issues such as discolouration or loss of
water supply. This is largely due to providing more targeted information on our website as well as our proactive text
messaging service which we now use to notify customers of any potential unplanned interruptions to their water supplies.
Having been the first water company to do this, we sent over 850,000 text messages in the past year to customers who were
at risk of being impacted by service issues.
We also improved our communication with customers in 2013 by refreshing our website and establishing an active presence
on Twitter and Facebook for those customers who prefer to contact us using social media. These platforms, in addition to the
‘livechat’ facility we already offer, are proving successful with the number of Twitter followers increasing by over 300% in the
past 12 months.
Customers who need to contact us are encouraged to share constructive feedback. We always try to act on this with
customers also being able to nominate colleagues for providing good service through our new recognition scheme, the
‘diolch’ awards. This recognises those colleagues that ‘go the extra mile’ for customers and we are proud that over 500
nominations were received from customers across our operating area in the past 12 months.
CHALLENGES FACED
The number of written complaints received from customers in relation to their water, wastewater and billing services
increased this year to 4,079 (2012: 2,652) and we are determined to improve on this measure. The issues experienced by
customers were partly due to warm summer weather which posed challenges in terms of water supplies in pockets of our
operating area, including the Llyn Peninsula and rural Herefordshire. These events also contributed to the number of
customers who were without water for more than six hours.
In recent months we have also been working with Citizens Advice Cymru to raise awareness of third party intermediaries who
have been contacting our customers and offering - for a set fee - to recover money from Welsh Water on their behalf. This
usually relates to confirming eligibility for surface water rebates - a service we already offer free of charge. We will therefore
continue to promote our service with customers and stakeholders to ensure they are aware that they can contact us directly.
When operating a vast network, things inevitably can go wrong for customers. When this happens, our priority it to take any
action necessary to put things right, and learn lessons to reduce the risk of the same thing happening again. The worst type
of service failure is internal sewer flooding and this regrettably impacted on 19 customers in Treorchy, South Wales in
December 2013.
LOOKING AHEAD
In order to maintain excellent customer service, we know that we need to embrace changing customer trends and patterns.
This is why we plan to further entrench social media platforms within our customer channels and have also made good
progress with ‘NEWID’, a major project to replace our 25 year old billing system and which will give Welsh Water a proven
state-of-the-art customer billing platform to enable further customer service improvements.
38

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW cont’d
In terms of business customers, our plans include assistance for businesses to benchmark their water charges against similar
organisations to identify opportunities to reduce consumption, along with expanding our telemetry services to enable
customers to see exactly where they are using water on their sites. Combined with this, we will provide a leakage repair
service and process audits to identify where businesses could be more water efficient. Our new billing system will mean that
more of our businesses can receive an emailed single bill for their premises.
5. AFFORDABLE BILLS
INTRODUCTION
We aim to provide the best possible water and wastewater services to our customers and these services must remain
affordable. Our customers have, in many cases, faced falling household incomes in recent years due to the unfavourable
economic climate and this remains a particular challenge for our company. Wales has a relatively low level of average
household income and a much higher than average concentration of areas of significant income deprivation. It is estimated
that around 15% of our household customers spend more than 5% of their disposable income on their water and wastewater
bills. Consequently, affordability is, and will continue to be, a key challenge for us.
HIGHLIGHTS
Our annual price increase in 2013 to 2014 was the lowest across the industry for the third year running. It also marked the
fourth year that we have kept price increases below the rate of inflation. This latest limited increase means that we are now
on track to ensure that household customer bills are likely to fall by 6% on average before inflation between 2010 and 2015.
Our strong financial position has allowed us to do much more for our customers than would otherwise have been possible.
This involves providing help to more customers than ever before with around 60,000 benefiting from help to pay their water
bills through our tariffs for vulnerable customers.
CHALLENGES
Despite successive below-inflation bill increases, our bill remains above the industry average in England and Wales. This is
partly explained by our mountainous and relatively rural operating environment which requires more assets per customer
and, hence, more cost.
It is also largely due to the wastewater element of the bill as we have had to invest £1 billion in the 1990s to build new
treatment works around the coast of Wales to meet increasing environmental standards – which has been financed through
customer bills. However, we have successfully been reducing the gap between our average bill and the overall industry
average. In 2000, our bill was 14% above the industry average but by 2015, our average household bill is projected to be only
5% above the industry average and we are determined to improve this further.
Like most other water companies, customer debt recovery remains a high priority, especially in a difficult economic
environment where companies have no sanction to disconnect supplies to non- paying household customers. The bad debt
charge for the year was £28 million (2013: £27 million) and represents around 4% of annual turnover.
With water customers in Wales paying around £20 extra on annual bills to cover the costs of those who choose not to, or who
are not able to pay, this issue is particularly acute in the case of tenanted properties. We therefore support the Welsh
Government’s proposed regulations which will encourage landlords to pass on the details of their tenants to water
companies.
LOOKING AHEAD
As we plan our future activity, we know that affordability remains a real concern for customers. We will need to manage the
trade-off between the finance ability of the business and the affordability of bills very carefully so that we can continue to
provide a high quality service at an affordable price both for today‘s customers and for future generations.
This is why we plan to develop a new social tariff framework over the next 12 months that will enable us to nearly double the
number of customers benefiting from help to pay their water and sewage bills. With around nearly 190,000 of our household
customers spending more than 5% of their disposable income on their water and wastewater bill, we will need to continue
targeting our affordability support quickly and effectively. This is why we are currently working with Community Housing
Cymru, Moneyline Cymru and other stakeholders to develop a new social tariff that will substantially increase the number of
customers – currently benefiting from our help to pay their water bills from 60,000 to over 100,000.
We have also been finalising our future investment for the next regulatory period (2015–2020) to ensure that any bill
increases are kept below inflation every year until 2020. This will mean that our customers will have benefited from a decade
of below-inflation bill increases by 2020 and that the average household bill by then will be 14% lower in real terms than in
2010.
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6. LOOKING AFTER OUR ASSETS
INTRODUCTION
Our main responsibility is to operate, maintain and upgrade our network of assets so that we can provide a safe and reliable
supply of drinking water and deal effectively with wastewater. This is why we invested £354 million in our capital projects last
year so that we can protect public health and the natural environment in our care.
With a network replacement value of £26 billion (or £20,000 per household customer), we operate 66 water treatment works
supplying safe, clean drinking water through more than 27,000km of pipes whilst around 30,000km sewer network includes
some 1,800 pumping stations and 3,500 consented sewer overflows. Our topography and geography, with many discrete
areas of low population density, means that we have more assets per customer and limited opportunities to benefit from
economies of scale
Asset ‘serviceability’ is the key measure used by Ofwat to monitor how water companies invest in their assets to maintain
service to customers at a ‘stable’ level. By doing that we help maintain our service to customers now and into the future.
HIGHLIGHTS
In 2013 to 2014, our performance across above-ground and below-ground assets for water and wastewater was very strong.
We are now consolidating the improvements we have made to continue to deliver excellent services both in terms of water
quality (£120 million ‘Go to Green’ investment programme to rebuild, refurbish or upgrade 12 water treatment works) and
environmental compliance (£29 million investment to replace or upgrade 40 wastewater assets). As a result, we have
managed to meet most of our ‘serviceability’ targets.
We rely on a number of key partners to help us maintain our assets and our services and we responded swiftly to maintain
service levels in May 2013 after one of our primary network engineering partners, Daniel Contracting Limited, went into
administration. We managed to work with the parties involved to successfully facilitate the TUPE transfer of employees to
another emergency contractor and thereby ensured a seamless continuity of service, avoiding any impact on our services to
customers.
We are also continuing to improve our operational efficiency through the introduction of Lean operating principles. This is
aimed at maximising the efficient use of our assets through significantly reducing our operating costs by retaining only those
practices that add value and are core to good operations and asset management. In the past year, this has been embedded in
some of our water treatment works and waste sludge centres, and we are now finalising plans for it to be rolled out further
across our network.
We have also continued to build our IT capability over the last 12 months by investing over £26 million to support frontline
operations, capital delivery and customer service. We have started to in-source IT support services that were previously
contracted out and this should enable projected annual cost savings of over £700,000 from April 2015 onwards.
CHALLENGES FACED
The most significant challenge to our assets over the past 12 months involved the extreme winter weather conditions in our
area. This required emergency planning activity, and after mobilising our Silver Command Centres for much of November and
December 2013 in order to coordinate our response to the adverse conditions, our Gold Command and Centre for water and
wastewater services was assembled simultaneously for the first time in February this year. This proved absolutely crucial in
allowing us to address challenges such as flooding, high tides, gales and power failures and implement contingency measures
to help avoid any widespread disruption to our services.
With such an extensive network, we are continuing to nurse a number of assets that need investment. This has led to service
issues which are impacting on our customers including discoloured water (Herefordshire), low water pressure (Carmel,
Anglesey), intermittent supplies (the Llŷn Peninsula) and odour from the operation of our wastewater treatment works
(Chester and Swansea) and pumping stations (Pant-y-Wacco, near Holywell).
During the year, we also faced several prosecutions brought by Natural Resources Wales in North Wales for breaching
discharge consents. We have instigated various process improvements following these cases, and will continue to work with
our regulator to ensure that we minimise our impact on the environment.
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LOOKING AHEAD
Even though our assets are designed to withstand extreme weather conditions and other known risks, we constantly face
other threats (e.g. flooding, coastal erosion and power failures) as well as crime and terrorism. There is evidence that the
frequency and severity of some of these hazards may be increasing due to the effects of factors that are beyond our control
(for example, climate change) and they can adversely affect the services we provide to our customers and the impact we have
on the environment.
Improving the resilience of our assets to the risks associated with such extreme events will be a key part of our future
investment programme.
To prepare for the next investment cycle between 2015 and 2020, we are now planning to work differently and creating a
new Alliance that will bring together the skills of colleagues and partners. This will enable us to drive value in the planning
and pre-construction phase by co-locating Welsh Water, contractor and consultant resource in a single Integrated Solutions
Team to help facilitate collaboration and innovation.
As part of our future work, we are also committed to realising our ambition of developing a SMART network across the water
and wastewater networks to help predict problems before they impact on our customers. Having identified areas of poor
performance and emerging risks, we are already piloting trials (including on the wastewater network in Gowerton, Chester,
and Llai near Wrexham) which are testing the use of sophisticated monitors that will help inform the future operation of the
network and the establishment of a dedicated Smart Network Hub.
7. DEVELOPING OUR PEOPLE
INTRODUCTION
We are one of the largest company’s in Wales, 3,000 colleagues who all in delivering a vital public service. They are highly
skilled, trained and motivated at all times to deliver the high standards our customers expect.
With female colleagues now representing 28% (825) of our workforce, we value and continue to promote diversity within the
workforce and have procedures and policies in place to ensure that we are an equal opportunities employer. All job
applications are fully and fairly considered, having regard only to the applicant’s aptitudes and abilities relevant to the role. In
the event of disability, every effort is made to ensure that employment continues and appropriate adjustments are made and
training given. Career development and promotion of disabled people is identical to that of other colleagues.
As demonstrated during the exceptional weather patterns experienced over the past 12 months, colleagues often ‘go the
extra mile’ and it is our responsibility as a company to ensure that they return home safely at the end of each working day.
We have a duty to ensure that they are trained appropriately for their roles as well as encouraging the correct behaviours as
their health, safety and wellbeing are paramount.
HIGHLIGHTS
In terms of health and safety, we have continued to make good progress towards our ‘Journey to Zero’ — our ultimate goal of
‘no lost time injuries’ to our colleagues and contractors when no time is lost from work. One indicator by which we measure
performance is the number of injury reported per year to the Health and Safety Executive under the Reporting of Injuries,
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR). We have seen an overall reduction in RIDDOR incidents
with 23 incidents in 2013 compared to an average of 26 incidents over the past three years. We have not and will not
compromise on safety, and as part of our ‘Safety Takes Every Person’ (STEP) campaign, we commenced a major safety culture
training programme for over 200 managers in 2013. The impact of this has been seen with the number of ‘Positive
Interventions’ reported increasing by 50% to nearly 16,300 over the last 12 months (2012: 10,500). By increasing the number
of reported ‘Positive Interventions’ and taking action to remove hazards and risks, research shows that this should lead to a
reduction in the number of reportable injuries.
To maintain our high levels of customer service, we have continued to embed the ‘customer first’ culture through our
‘How2Wow’ bespoke customer service training programme. This has been accredited by the Institute of Customer Service
and having already been delivered to 600 operational colleagues, it will now be rolled out across other functions.
We also know that recognising and celebrating colleague achievement and contribution is key and we were proud to launch
the new ‘diolch’ awards in January 2014. This new recognition scheme rewards teams and individuals from across the
company along with our strategic partners and contractor companies who clearly demonstrate our vision whilst placing our
core values at the heart of everything we do.
Listening to our colleagues helps us improve our performance. This is why we conduct an annual Employee Engagement
Survey. Whilst we are proud to achieve a record 79% engagement score in 2013 a 10% increase since our first survey in 2011
it is equally pleasing that the results also show that we have a strong customer ethos. 83% of colleagues believe that Welsh
Water puts its customers first.
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We also know that we must have an honest, two-way engagement with colleagues across our business and over the past 12
months, we have sought to ensure that every colleague is informed of key decisions affecting the business. Over 1,000
colleagues attended workshops last summer to help develop our new company vision; eight workshops were also held with
colleagues to gauge their opinion on our draft Business Plan for 2015 to 2020; two rounds of employee roadshows were
arranged in March and September, at over 19 locations, and attended by more than 2,000 colleagues; and two Leadership
Conferences were also held for senior managers.
These events are supplemented by a six- weekly internal newspaper (Dŵr) and a weekly e-mail bulletin (Dŵr weekly).
CHALLENGES FACED
Despite challenging economic conditions, we have remained committed to investing and developing our colleagues. We are
particularly proud of our Essential Skills in the Workplace Programme, developed in partnership with the Welsh Governments
and trade unions. Over 350 colleagues are currently working towards achieving around 700 qualifications in numeracy,
literacy and IT skills. We remain the only large company in Wales to be recognised by the Employer Pledge Award as a result
of this programme and its success.
Meanwhile, we have also continued to invest in our senior leadership community with over 220 benefiting from our internally
designed management development programme which has been accredited by the Institute of Leadership and Management.
This builds on the support we provide to the professional development of our scientists and engineers who are working
towards Chartership status.
Our frontline colleagues are also benefiting from our City and Guilds accredited Competent Operator programme which
ensures that we can provide a consistent and competent service for our customers.
LOOKING AHEAD
With nearly one in 10 of our colleagues having more than 35 years service and nearly one in five due to be 65 or over in the
next 10 years, achieving our business goals depends on us having a strong pipeline of talented people ready and able to step
into roles as their colleagues retire. This is why we are proud to have developed bespoke programmes such as our Trainee
Distribution Inspector Programme which is aimed specifically at addressing the potential shortages in this particular area. We
also welcomed six graduates, five trainee inspectors and eight apprentices into the company in 2013.
Maintaining health and safety of colleagues will also be a key focus as we move forward. With the majority of accidents
caused by slipping or lifting, we will continue to focus on incidents with a behavioural root cause. We have already started to
focus on improving ‘human factor’ safety by providing targeted and bespoke training such as ‘Manual Handling’ and ‘Safety
Culture’, and after being completed by over 1,500 operators, it is now being rolled out across the company.
8. AN EFFICIENT BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION
At Welsh Water, our main objective is to deliver high quality water and wastewater services to the communities that we
serve, at the least possible cost. Delivering best value means spending as efficiently as possible, managing cost pressures, and
recovering costs in the way that best balances the interests of today’s customers and future generations.
Glas Cymru has no shareholders it is funded solely from debt and so no dividends are paid and all ‘equity returns’ generated
by Welsh Water are used by Glas Cymru for the benefit of customers
HIGHLIGHTS
Welsh Water continues to have the highest credit rating of any regulated utility company in the UK. This allows us to raise
funds for investment from long term bond investors at low cost which brings substantial benefits for Welsh Water customers.
The financial savings resulting from our ownership model have generated financial reserves – or customer equity — of £1.6
billion and our financial gearing has now fallen to 63% compared with 93% when Welsh Water was acquired by Glas Cymru in
2001.
Operating costs in 2013 to 2014 have reduced to £296m (2013: £298m) but cost increases include higher energy costs (£4m),
a higher bad debt charge (£1m) and the additional expenditure necessary to maintain operations during the failure of the
Daniel Contracting Limited business (£4m). These have been more than offset by cost reductions including an accounting
credit relating to the defined benefit pension scheme (£5m) and additional savings from in sourcing and other efficiency
initiatives. These include generating more of our energy from renewable sources and realising £1 million in cost savings per
year after successfully completing the in-sourcing of laboratory services from the previous contract provider. These measures
have played an important part in us ensuring that we remain the only water and wastewater company that has reduced its
operating costs in real terms since 2001.
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CHALLENGES
Our long term challenges include access to funding for our investment programme as well as the tight management of costs.
If we are to sustain high levels of investment and deliver new higher standards in the future, it is important that we have
continued access to keenly priced funding from the private capital markets. To help reduce costs further, we are participating
in a European Benchmarking Cooperation exercise involving the exchange and evaluation of key data involving some 40 utility
companies from over 18 countries.
LOOKING AHEAD
Like other companies, we will face increasing costs in the future which are likely to impact on customer bills. This includes
external costs such as increases in the price of power and energy as well as internal costs such those associated with the
private sewer transfer and the adoption and rehabilitation of private pumping stations. Nonetheless, we are determined to
continue delivering best value for money for our customers by offsetting these costs through efficiency initiatives.
We are well underway with this after establishing an internal steering group tasked with identifying £30 million of operational
cost savings over the five years to 2020, which forms part of our published draft Business Plan for this period.
Chris Jones, Chief Executive
June 2014
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Welsh Water has delivered a strong financial performance during the year to 31 March 2014; gearing has been maintained at
63% and the company has retained its sector-leading credit ratings in spite of continued economic uncertainty.
Revenue
Welsh Water’s turnover in the year to 31 March 2014 was £737 million (2013: £716 million), primarily reflecting the price
increase of 2.4%, which was the lowest in the sector. Additional revenue from new customers has been offset by household
customers switching to metered charging. The number of customers signed up to our sector-leading range of customer
assistance tariffs has continued to increase. As at 31 March 2014 some 60,000 were benefiting from one of these tariffs or
our Customer Assistance Fund - which support those who have difficulty paying their bills - at a cost to the Company of £4
million.
Operating costs
Welsh Water incurred total operational costs (excluding IRC and depreciation) of £291 million (2013: £295 million); a number
of specific cost pressures (power costs, wastewater compliance costs, private sewers expenditure) have been offset by
efficiency savings and an accounting credit relating to the defined benefit pension scheme.
All water and sewerage companies need to draw on significant energy resources, particularly for water treatment and
pumping processes, and Welsh Water – with its network spread across Wales’s undulating topography – is no exception.
Power costs during 2013-14 rose to £43 million (2013: £39 million) principally as a consequence of price increases and the
impact of wet weather on sewage pumping. There remains significant uncertainty over future energy costs, and we have
forward purchased around 70% of the estimated power requirements of the business over the remainder of the regulatory
period to 31 March 2015.
Customer debt recovery remained a high priority for Welsh Water. In a difficult economic environment, in which water
companies have no sanction to disconnect supplies to non-paying domestic customers, cash collection has continued to be
challenging. The bad debt charge for the year of £28 million (2013: £27 million) represents 3.8% of annual turnover (2013:
3.8%) and reflects a review of historical collection rates.
Infrastructure renewals charge
Expenditure on infrastructure renewals (IRC) is in line broadly with the prior year at £70 million (2013:£68m), reflecting the
continued focus on maintenance in year four of the company’s AMP5 capital investment programme (2010-2015). Included in
the IRC are leakage activity costs of £4 million directed towards meeting our leakage target set by Ofwat. Private sewerrelated expenditure amounted to a further £10 million.
Financing costs
Net interest payable of £162 million was £22 million higher than last year. This is predominantly the effect of a £20 million
accounting profit recognised last year on termination of finance leases. The average cost of debt during the period was 5.6%
(2013: 5.0%).
Profit before taxation
The historical cost profit and loss account reports a profit before taxation of £76 million (2013: £81 million). This profit was
made after funding a real-terms reduction in customer bills and a high level of investment in network maintenance during the
year.
Taxation
The taxation credit for the year is £13 million, compared to a ‘normalised’ taxation charge of £33 million (based on the profit
before tax of £76 million at the corporation tax rate in force for the year of 23%). The principal variance relates to a £34
million deferred tax credit due to the corporation tax rate reduction from 24% to 20% in future years.
The group has tax trading losses carried forward of approximately £300 million which the group believes should be sufficient
to eliminate tax on trading profits in the remainder of the regulatory period ended 31 March 2015, subject to changes in tax
law.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW cont’d
Pension funding
The statement of comprehensive income reports defined benefit pension scheme actuarial gains of £20 million and the
balance sheet liability as at 31 March 2014 was £2 million. This valuation is on an FRS 17 basis for accounting purposes and is
not consistent with the actuarial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes. The latest such valuation of the scheme, as at
31 March 2013, projected a small deficit recoverable by payments of £1 million per annum until 2018.
The sensitivity of the FRS 17 valuation to small changes in assumptions has increased considerably in recent years due to the
transfer of employees’ past service benefits into the scheme following the in-sourcing of the major operational contracts in
2010-11 and the in-sourcing of the income and billing contract in 2012-13. If the discount rate were to change by 0.1%, the
balance sheet obligation as at 31 March 2013 would increase or reduce by £7 million (2013: £8 million).
Liquidity and financial reserves
Welsh Water aims to offer a secure, low risk investment to investors. By building and maintaining a strong financial position,
we intend to keep our borrowing costs low, enabling us to finance future investment efficiently whilst maintaining
affordability for our customers.
On Glas Cymru’s acquisition of Welsh Water in May 2001, gearing (net debt/RCV) stood at 93%. Since then, the financial
position has improved steadily, such that gearing had fallen to 63% by 31 March 2014 (2013: 63%) and ‘financial reserves’
(RCV less net debt) were £1.6 billion.
As at 31 March 2014 the company had available total liquidity of £234 million, including cash balances of £94 million, with
funding in place for the remainder of the current regulatory period which runs to 2015.
Credit ratings and interest rate management
Welsh Water has the strongest credit ratings in the water sector, reflecting the company’s high level of creditworthiness. The
ratings of the company’s Class A and B debt at 31 March 2014 were A/A3/A from Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch
Ratings.
The Board has always adopted prudent financial policies, predominantly covering the fixing of interest rates and the
investment of cash balances. Dŵr Cymru’s policy is to minimise its exposure to movements in market rates, with a minimum
of 85% of its liabilities being fixed rate, index-linked to the UK RPI or matched by cash balances. The Board considers that
linking debt to UK RPI inflation is particularly appropriate, as Welsh Water revenues and regulatory capital value are also
linked to RPI through the regulatory system operated by Ofwat. Implementation of the policies is delegated to a small team
of specialists which operates to ensure that Welsh Water meets the requirements of its licence, and therefore undertakes no
speculative trading.
As at 31 March 2014, approximately 65% of gross debt was index-linked via bonds and derivatives (2013: 65%), with the
remainder fixed. The expected maturity of the outstanding fixed rate and index-linked bonds ranges from 2021 to 2057, with
not more than 20% falling due in any two-year period, in accordance with our refinancing policy.

Capital investment
Welsh Water’s strong financial position has been built up over the last 13 years, and provides a stable base from which it can
respond positively to the challenges of the economic recession and drive forward its continuing large capital programme.
Welsh Water works with an alliance of capital investment partners to deliver the investment programme at the best value for
money for customers. Welsh Water investing some £1.5 billion over the current AMP period which runs from 2010 to 2015,
bringing sustained improvements to customer service, drinking water quality and the environment. Total capital expenditure
by Welsh Water during the year (including IRE) was £354 million, bringing total investment during the AMP period to date to
nearly £1.2 billion. The group plans to invest a further £344 million over the course of the financial year, one of our largest
ever investment programmes.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW cont’d
Private Sewers
On 1 October 2011 Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig assumed responsibility for managing the private sewers network in its operational
area. The transfer of an estimated 17,000km of private sewers and drains has significantly increased the size of the network.
During the year, Dŵr Cymru incurred associated costs of £16 million (2013: £14 million), of which £10 million formed part of
the capital investment programme (including IRE) while the remaining £6 million were classified as operating expenditure.
Looking ahead
A key part of our strategy is to maintain the affordability of customer bills in the long term while at the same time maintaining
the serviceability of the company’s network of water and wastewater assets. The company remains prudently financed with
gearing at 63% and good liquidity. The Board considers that the current level of gearing will enable the company to efficiently
fund the investment programme to 2015 and beyond.
Ofwat, the water industry’s economic regulator, is currently in the process of determining revenue controls for the five years
from April 2015 to March 2020. It published a draft determination for the company on 30 May and a final determination is
expected in December 2014.
Our priority will remain the essential task of delivering safe and reliable services for all our customers as well as safeguarding
the environment, at an affordable cost.
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PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR 2013-14
On most of the measures that matter for our customers and other stakeholders, our performance now ranks us towards the
top of the industry league tables.
The regulated water industry is particularly measurable, which allows the Board to set targets for the business that are based
on sector benchmarks and to judge where we stand compared with the best performers in the sector. We use a number of
key measures to make up our Performance Scorecard against which - alongside the achievement of cost efficiency targets –
variable pay for every member of staff is calculated. Last year we achieved or beat the targets set by the Board for 13 of the
18 measures on our Performance Scorecard.
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OUR PLAN FOR 2014-15
2014 to 2015 will be a ‘year of transition’ for Welsh Water. In this last year of the current investment cycle, the company aims to
achieve very stretching operational and customer service performance targets, at a significantly reduced level of cost.
In the short term, our Business Plan for 2014-2015 sets 12 key priorities for the company. These include performance objectives for
compliance, customer service and cost. If achieved, these targets would put our service levels amongst the best in the sector on
most measures.
CUSTOMER
1. Health and safety: Focus on behavioural safety; develop new ‘process safety’ approach in relevant teams.
2. Customer service improvements: Improve customer service processes and promotion of online service channels.
COST
3.
4.
5.

Cost efficiency: Significant savings will be required to hit targets for 2010 to 2015 and to cover increased power costs.
Establishing a commercial arm: A small team will be created to look at new commercial opportunities including additional
renewable energy projects.
Planning for 2020: The final determination for the next regulatory investment period between 2015 and 2020 is expected
from Ofwat in December 2014 and Ofwat are also developing plans for increased competition in England in 2017. We will
review the consequence of these decisions and how they impact on Welsh Water.

COMPLIANCE
6. Improved water distribution performance: Improve operational strategies and adoption of drinking water safety plan
approach.
7. Environmental performance: Maintain excellent performance on environmental pollutions and transfer some resource to
investment to combat sewer flooding of properties.
8. People and culture: Continue to develop our people, strengthen our pool of strong managers and specialists and embed
our vision and values.
9. Compliance and regulatory standing: Compliance will have a heightened profile across the business and the new
Compliance Team will focus on a wider range of issues.
ENABLERS
10. Lean operations: Roll out Lean operating practices across water treatment works and wastewater sludge treatment
centres.
11. Developing a smart business: Develop innovation strategies for water and wastewater to 2020; move towards real time
management of the networks and better targeting of investment.
12. ICT change programme: Replace our billing system (Project Newid); update our IT operating systems (Project RevITalise).
At the same time, over the next 12 months we will also be driving forward a number of key business improvement strategies, which
will position us to meet the even more demanding challenges in the next investment period from 2015 to 2020 – in terms of cost
reduction, performance targets and value returned to customers. We will be developing a detailed Delivery Plan for 2015 to 2020
which will set out our objectives and performance targets for the period in light of the Ofwat Final Determination, together with
the key strategies needed to deliver those objectives.

48

Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related
matters)
Ofwat requires companies to provide an annual risk and compliance statement. The purpose of the risk and compliance statement
is for the company to confirm that it has complied with those relevant statutory, licence and regulatory obligations that have not
been confirmed by other processes, and is taking appropriate steps to manage or mitigate the risks it faces. In making this
statement the Company has considered the following matters.
Legal and regulatory obligations
The Company has legal and regulatory obligations as a water and sewerage undertaker, including but not limited to its duties under
the following enactments:
the 1991 Water Industry Act (as amended);
the 1991 Water Resources Act (as amended); and
the 1975 Reservoirs Act
including secondary legislation made under the above, such as the Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations as made under the
Water Industry Act (as amended), and also including its duties under the following other instruments:
the company’s licence as a water and sewerage undertaker;
the company’s licences to abstract water; and
the company’s licences to discharge wastewater.
The company reviews its performance against a wide range of measures as set out in the Operating and Financial Review, and
draws upon a wide range of material, including the following:
monthly reports from the Executive Directors;
the monthly service performance report for the Company;
the minutes of the meetings of the Quality and Environment Committee and the Audit Committee;
the DWI Chief Inspector’s Annual Report on water quality; and
Ofwat reports on company performance.
Protection of the appointed business
The company will have available to it (i) sufficient financial resources and facilities, (ii) the management resources, and (iii) the
systems of planning and internal control needed to carry out, for at least the next twelve months, the Regulated Activities
(including the investment programme necessary to fulfil the company’s obligations under the Instrument of Appointment).
All contracts entered into with any associated company include all the necessary provisions and requirements concerning the
standards of services to be supplied by the company, to ensure that it is able to meet all its obligations as a water and sewerage
undertaker; and the company has sufficient rights and assets to comply with the requirements of paragraph 3.1 of Condition K of
the Licence.
The following factors have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion:
a) the financial strength of the Company and the management and other resources available to the company as recorded in the
Regulatory Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2014;
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related
matters) cont’d
b) the bond programme of financing implemented by Dŵr Cymru (Financing) Limited, an associate company, inter alia, to provide
future financing for the Company (including the investment programme necessary to fulfill the company’s obligations under the
Instrument of Appointment);
c) the strong credit rating of the company’s bonds;
d) the results from the ongoing monitoring of financial, operational and compliance controls and the risk management process
reported to the board via four formal committees; the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominations
Committee and the Quality and Environment Committee. The Group’s internal audit function has carried out a programme of work,
which incorporates a review of the control environment;
e) the annual review of the effectiveness of internal controls in compliance with the requirements of the Combined Code; and
f) the Undertaking that Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig (“Glas Cymru”) has given following the acquisition of the company, in which Glas
Cymru confirms that it (and each of its subsidiaries other than the Company) will:
provide the company with all such information as may be necessary to enable the company to comply with the
requirements of the conditions of Appointments, or such additional information as the Director may reasonably require
about their activities and the financing of them;
refrain from any action which would or may cause the company to breach any of its obligations under the Act or
conditions of Appointments;
ensure that at all times the Board of the company contains a majority of non-executive directors;
comply with the Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice (or any successor document having a similar
purpose or intent) as may from time to time be appended to or approved for the purposes of the Listing Rules of the UK
Listing Authority; and
not make any changes to their respective Memorandum and Articles of Association without the consent of Ofwat.
Customer expectations
The Company considers it has taken appropriate steps to understand and meet the reasonable expectations of its customers as a
whole with respect to the services delivered, the performance achieved, and the value for money provided. The following factors
have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion:
ongoing analysis of a wide range of sources of feedback from customers, including follow-up calls to customers, analysis
of the causes of customer contacts, monthly independent tracking surveys of customer satisfaction and monthly analysis
of the levels and causes of customer complaints;
representations and feedback from customer representatives, including the Consumer Council for Water Wales;
the views of the Members of the Company;
the company’s absolute and relative performance under Ofwat’s Service Incentive Mechanism; and
the outcomes of the customer research undertaken as part of the preparation of the company’s business plan for PR14,
which showed a very high level of support for the company’s plans.
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related
matters) cont’d
A more detailed description of how the company seeks to meet reasonable customer expectations is set out in the Annual Report.
Management of risk
The company considers that it has in place appropriate and effective systems and processes to allow it to identify, manage and
review its material risks. The following factors have been taken into account in reaching this conclusion:
the operation of a standard IT based risk management system (Driskall) which captures operational and non-operational
risk from within the business across all areas of activity, which is routinely reviewed and updated in monthly management
meetings;
the output from a six monthly review of principal risks to the business by the Executive (and the changing assessment of
risk from period to period);
a six monthly review of the principal risks by the Board, reported against by the Executive at every Board meeting;
an annual exercise to understand the views of the Board on the principal strategic risks facing the business;
an annual review of internal control and risk management by the Executive, the Audit Committee and the Board to
confirm that the company’s control environment is robust and effective;
the findings from programmes of external audit and internal and quality audit which are risk based and approved by the
Audit Committee of the Board on an annual basis;
periodic reports from the Executive to the Audit Committee or the Quality and Environment Committee or the Board (as
appropriate) following customer service or compliance failures to demonstrate that lessons have been learned and
improvements made or control systems tightened in relevant parts of the business; and
the effectiveness of the ‘whistle-blowing’ procedures within the company which are regularly reported to the Audit
Committee.
Delivery of regulatory outputs
As described in the Annual Performance Report, the delivery of outputs is not materially different to what was assumed in the 2009
Final Determination.
Link between Directors’ pay and performance
The Remuneration Committee has put in place a framework for executive remuneration which establishes a strong link between
executive pay and the performance – both service and financial – of the company. This has been approved by the Directors and is
set out in full in the 2014 Remuneration Report (which is part of the Glas Cymru 2014 Annual Report) and extracted in the
Regulatory Accounts which were approved by the Board at its meeting on 6 June 2014, and which were published simultaneously
with this Risk and Compliance statement. The remuneration framework is substantially unchanged from that approved by the
Members of Glas Cymru at the 2010 Annual General Meeting, however Members’ approval for a new policy will be sought at the
2014 AGM.
Disclosure of transactions with Associated Companies
There were no transactions with any associated companies except for:
the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig are also directors of other companies within the Glas Cymru Group. However, the
emoluments of the Directors are paid in full by Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig as their activities are predominantly related to the
regulated water and sewerage business. During the year the Directors’ emoluments amounted to £2,315,678 (2012-13
£2,044,322);
debtors include a loan to the Company’s immediate parent company Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, of £320.5 million
(2013: £320.5 million). The interest rate on this loan is 12%. Loan interest of £38.5 million (2013: £38.5m) has been
waived by the Company during the year. The interest waiver is a practical alternative to funding the interest otherwise
receivable by the Company by means of an ordinary dividend; and
the proceeds of the Group’s bond programme have been on-lent to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under an intercompany loan
agreement. Under the terms of this agreement, the interest rates payable by the Company are based on the
interest rates payable to the bondholders, after taking into account interest rate and currency swaps, plus a margin of
0.01%.
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Risk and compliance statement (incorporating the F6A Certificate and related
matters) cont’d
For the purposes of regulatory reporting Dŵr Cymru Customer Services Limited is treated as part of the Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig
regulated entity.
Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig Statement
At its meeting on 6 June 2014, the Board considered that, on the basis of the information presented in this risk and compliance
statement and in the Annual Performance Report, which had been discussed with the Company’s Reporter, the Company is able to
make this statement in accordance with Ofwat’s requirements.
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Directors’ responsibilities for the regulatory accounts
The Directors are required by the terms of the Instrument of Appointment to prepare regulatory accounts for each financial
year in accordance with Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment and the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines. In
preparing the regulatory accounts, the Directors ensure that appropriate accounting policies have been adopted and applied
consistently, that applicable accounting standards have been followed and that reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates have been made.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
It is the Directors' responsibility to maintain adequate accounting records and to institute and maintain systems and controls
designed to safeguard the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
By order of the Board
N Williams
Company Secretary
June 2014
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Independent auditors’ report to the Water Services Regulation Authority (the
Authority, referred to as the “WSRA” and the Directors of Dŵr Cymru
Cyfyngedig)
Opinion on Regulatory Accounts
In our opinion the Regulatory Accounts, defined below:
fairly present in accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines issued by the WSRA and the
accounting policies set out on page 58 (including the accounting separation methodology), the state of the Company’s
affairs at 31 March 2014 on an historical cost and current cost basis, and its historical cost and current cost profit and its
current cost cash flow for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines and the accounting
policies (including the accounting separation methodology).
This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report.
What we have audited
We have audited the regulatory accounts of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2014 on
pages 56 to 93 (the “Regulatory Accounts”) which comprise:


the regulatory historical cost accounting statements comprising the regulatory historical cost profit and loss account, the
regulatory historical cost balance sheet, the regulatory historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses and the
historical cost reconciliation between the statutory financial statements and the Regulatory Accounts; and



the regulatory current cost accounting statements, for the appointed business comprising the current cost profit and loss
account, the current cost balance sheet, the current cost cash flow statement and the related notes including the Statement of
Accounting Policies.

These Regulatory Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting policies set out in
the Statement of Accounting Policies.
Basis of preparation
In forming our opinion on the Regulatory Accounts, which is not modified, we draw attention to the fact that the Regulatory
Accounts have been prepared in accordance with Condition F, the Regulatory Accounting Guidelines, the accounting policies
set out in the statement of accounting policies and, in the case of the regulatory historical cost accounting statements, under
the historical cost convention.
The Regulatory Accounts are separate from the statutory financial statements of the company and have not been prepared
under the basis of United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”) / International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRSs”). Financial information other than that prepared on the basis of UK
GAAP/IFRSs does not necessarily represent a true and fair view of the financial performance or financial position of a
company as shown in statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. Furthermore, the
regulatory historical cost accounting statements on pages 56 to 81 have been drawn up in accordance with Regulatory
Accounting Guideline 3.07 in that infrastructure renewals accounting as applied in previous years should continue to be
applied and accordingly, that the relevant sections of Financial Reporting Standards 12 and 15 be disapplied. The effect of this
departure from Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and a reconciliation of the balance sheet drawn up on this basis to
the balance sheet drawn up under the Companies Act 2006 is given on page 80 and 81.
Scope of the audit of the Regulatory Accounts
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Regulatory Accounts sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the Regulatory Accounts are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the Regulatory Accounts. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Regulatory Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited Regulatory Accounts and to
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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Independent auditors’ report to the Water Services Regulation Authority (the
Authority, referred to as the “WSRA” and the Directors of Dŵr Cymru
Cyfyngedig)

We have not assessed whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the company where these are
laid down by Condition F. Where Condition F does not give specific guidance on the accounting policies to be followed, our
audit includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies adopted in respect of the transactions and balances required
to be included in the Regulatory Accounts are consistent with those used in the preparation of the statutory financial
statements of the company. Furthermore, as the nature, form and content of Regulatory Accounts are determined by the
WSRA, we did not evaluate the overall adequacy of the presentation of the information, which would have been required if
we were to express an audit opinion under International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland).
Opinion on other matters prescribed by Condition F
Under the terms of our contract we have assumed responsibility to provide those additional opinions required by Condition F
in relation to the accounting records. In our opinion:
proper accounting records have been kept by the appointee as required by paragraph 3 of Condition F; and
the Regulatory Accounts are in agreement with the accounting records and returns retained for the purpose of
preparing the Regulatory Accounts.
Respective responsibilities of the WSRA, the Directors and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
Regulatory Accounts and for their fair presentation in accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting policies. Our
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Regulatory Accounts in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland), except as stated in the ‘Scope of the audit of the Regulatory Accounts’ below, and having regard to
the guidance contained in Audit 05/03 ‘Reporting to Regulators of Regulated Entities’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors.
This report is made, on terms that have been agreed, solely to the company and the WSRA in order to meet the requirements
of Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment granted by the Secretary of State for the Environment to the company as a
water and sewage undertaker under the Water Industry Act 1991 (“Condition F”). Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the company and the WSRA those matters that we have agreed to state to them in our report, in order
(a) to assist the company to meet its obligation under Condition F to procure such a report and (b) to facilitate the carrying
out by the WSRA of its regulatory functions, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the WRSA, for our audit work, for this report or for
the opinions we have formed.
Other matters
The nature, form and content of Regulatory Accounts are determined by the WSRA. It is not appropriate for us to assess
whether the nature of the information being reported upon is suitable or appropriate for the WRSA’s purposes. Accordingly
we make no such assessment.
Our opinion on the Regulatory Accounts is separate from our opinion on the statutory financial statements of the company
for the year ended 31 March 2014 on which we reported on 12 June 2014, which are prepared for a different purpose. Our
audit report in relation to the statutory financial statements of the company (our “Statutory audit”) was made solely to the
company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our Statutory audit work
was undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in a
statutory audit report and for no other purpose. In these circumstances, to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom our Statutory audit report is shown or
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cardiff
24 June 2014
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Historical cost profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2014
NonAppointed appointed
2014
2014
Note
£m
£m

Total
2014
£m

NonAppointed appointed
2013
2013
£m
£m

Total
2013
£m

Turnover

3a

726.5

10.0

736.5

707.6

8.8

716.4

Operating costs
Infrastructure renewals charge
Historical cost depreciation
Operating income

4
4
4
6

(284.0)
(69.5)
(138.3)
0.7

(7.4)
-

(291.4)
(69.5)
(138.3)
0.7

(286.9)
(67.9)
(132.3)
0.2

(8.1)
-

(295.0)
(67.9)
(132.3)
0.2

235.4

2.6

238.0

220.7

0.7

221.4

Operating profit
Net Interest payable

7

(162.6)

0.3

(162.3)

(141.2)

0.3

(140.9)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

3b

72.8

2.9

75.7

79.5

1.0

80.5

8
8

2.4
10.2

-

2.4
10.2

0.4
(45.7)

-

0.4
(45.7)

85.4

2.9

88.3

34.2

1.0

35.2

-

-

-

-

-

-

85.4

2.9

88.3

34.2

1.0

35.2

Taxation

Current
Deferred

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation
Dividends

9

Retained profit for year

All operations are continuing.

Historical cost statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year
ended 31 March 2014 (appointed business only)
Note
Profit for the year

2014
£m

2013
£m

85.4

34.2

Actuarial gains on post employment plans

24

19.9

2.4

Other losses

8

(4.6)

(0.1)

100.7

36.5

Total recognised gains for the year
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Historical cost balance sheet at 31 March 2014
NonAppointed appointed
Note
2014
2014
£m
£m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments
- loan to group company
- other
Total fixed assets

Total
2014
£m

NonAppointed appointed
2013
2013
£m
£m

Total
2013
£m

10

3,718.3

-

3,718.3

3,612.3

-

3,612.3

11a
11b

320.5
0.1
4,038.9

-

320.5
0.1
4,038.9

320.5
0.1
3,932.9

-

320.5
0.1
3,932.9

Infrastructure renewals prepayment
Other current assets

12

77.8
188.5

42.2

77.8
230.7

53.7
254.0

39.5

53.7
293.5

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings
Other creditors
Total creditors: amounts falling due within one year

14
14
14

(29.7)
(146.6)
(176.3)

-

(29.7)
(146.6)
(176.3)

(79.5)
(154.4)
(233.9)

-

(79.5)
(154.4)
(233.9)

90.0

42.2

132.2

73.8

39.5

113.3

4,128.9

42.2

4,171.1

4,006.7

39.5

4,046.2

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Borrowings
Other creditors
Total creditors: amounts falling due after one year

14
14
14

(2,830.6)
(70.0)
(2,900.6)

-

(2,830.6)
(70.0)
(2,900.6)

(2,776.9)
(60.7)
(2,837.6)

-

(2,776.9)
(60.7)
(2,837.6)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

18

(245.5)

-

(245.5)

(287.2)

-

(287.2)

Net assets employed

982.8

42.2

1,025.0

881.9

39.5

921.4

Capital and reserves

982.8

42.2

1,025.0

881.9

39.5

921.4

The regulatory accounts on pages 56 to 93 were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2014 and were signed on its
behalf by:

C A Jones
Chief Executive Officer

P D Perry
Chief Operating Officer
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Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2014
1

Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and with applicable accounting
standards in the UK except for the de-application of certain sections of FRS 12 and FRS 15 in relation to infrastructure
renewals accounting as described below, and with the Companies Act 2006 except for the treatment of certain capital
contributions. An explanation of this departure from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 is given in the “Grants and
customer contributions” section below and in note 10.
Revenue recognition policy
Turnover represents the income receivable in the ordinary course of business from the regulated activities of the business in
the year exclusive of value added tax. Charges billed to customers for water and sewerage services are recognised in the
period in which they are earned. An accrual is estimated for unmeasured consumption that has not yet been billed.
The measured income accrual is an estimation of the amount of mains water and wastewater charges unbilled at the year
end. The accrual is estimated using a defined methodology based upon weighted average water consumption by tariff, which
is calculated based upon historical information and recognised within turnover. The measured income accrual as at 31 March
2013 was £65.9m while amounts actually billed in 2013/14 totalled £64.7m; the difference, which constitutes £0.2% of
turnover, is not significant and is a consequence of the estimation techniques necessary to calculate the accrual.
Where an invoice has been raised or payment made but the service has not been provided in the year this will be treated as a
payment in advance. This will not be recognised within the current year’s turnover but will instead be recognised within
creditors.
Charges on income arising from court, solicitors and debt recovery agency fees are credited to operating costs and added to
the relevant customer account. They are not recognised within turnover.
There are no differences between the recognition of turnover in the regulatory and accounts and the recognition of revenue
in the statutory financial statements. Bills raised for customers having a record of non-payment are recognised as turnover.
Only in the following circumstances are bills not recognised as turnover:
a) Voids adjustment for local authority agreements. Dŵr Cymru bills local authorities for all of their tenanted premises,
whether occupied or not and the collection commission we pay local authorities includes a proportion to cover the voids.
An adjustment is therefore made between commission costs (included in operating costs) and turnover in respect of the
amount relating to voids; and
b) Where bills are subject to formal legal pricing disputes, we do not recognise as turnover the disputed portion of bills
raised.
Charging policy
Billing of unoccupied properties: an unoccupied property is a connected property or premises that is unoccupied and
unfurnished and does not have use of any water or sewerage service. This definition is applied in the following ways:
a) Unmeasured supplies
If an unoccupied property is furnished normal charges will apply (subject to allowances, e.g. if the sole occupier is in a
nursing home, hospital, prison or is overseas long-term).
Unfurnished and unoccupied properties do not incur charges unless they are in use, e.g. under renovation or
redecoration, in which case the customer will be offered the option of being compulsorily metered, continuing on
unmeasured charges or being disconnected.
Unmeasured properties will be billed a ‘surface water only’ charge if the water supply is temporarily disconnected.
b) Metered supplies
Metered standing charges are applied to each metered property unless there is zero water consumption, the property
owner cannot be identified and it is unfurnished.
Billing ‘the occupier’: very few premises are billed as ‘the occupier’; no bills are sent speculatively in this manner, only when
there is evidence suggesting an actual occupier (e.g. a visit, finance check or Land Registry search).
New properties: all new properties are metered. The developer, being the consumer, is billed for water and sewerage
charges between the date of connection and first occupancy. Income from the developer for metered charges is recognised
as turnover.
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Comparison of actual revenues to Ofwat’s 2009 price determination
Appointed turnover in the year to 31 March 2014 amounted to £727m (2013: £708m) compared to a Final Determination
target of £737m (2013: £721m), an underperformance of £10m. This underperformance is driven by a number of factors:

Final Determination (2007/8 prices)
Inflation adjustment
Final Determination in outturn prices (13/14 prices)

£m
611
126
737

Revenue foregone through our voluntary affordability tariffs
Other
Actual Reported Turnover

(8)
(2)
727

Reasons for other differences may include, but are not limited to, fewer billed properties due to new properties being lower
than forecast, variations in water demand for measured customers and a reduced number of meter optants than forecast.
Bad debt policy
Our policy is to write off debt when it is shown that a debt is not collectable. A debt is regarded as being not collectable when
one of the following conditions has been satisfied:
the debtor has been declared bankrupt;
the debtor cannot be traced;
the debtor has died without an estate;
all reasonable legal remedies have been exhausted and two collection agencies have failed to recover the debt; or
The debt is too small to pursue beyond specified recovery action.
All debt that has completed the full recovery process is held in an “end of line bucket” pending write-off. Write-offs are
scheduled as part of a routine procedure however initiatives continue to be undertaken in respect of the “end of line” debt to
review collectability and debts are currently only written off post completion of these initiatives.
Generally when debt reaches the “end of line bucket” the majority will have been fully provided for in the bad debt provision.
As a result the timing of the write-off has little impact on the overall charge for bad debts in any year. As a consequence, the
level of write-offs throughout the year is not monitored in isolation but as a component of the overall movement in
collections as part of the bad debt provision calculation. The company believes it is important to look at the overall trend in
collections when determining bad debt provisioning rates rather than reacting to isolated write-offs.
No changes have been made to the write-off policy or procedures during the year.
Accounting separation policy
The regulatory accounts have been drawn up in accordance with Dŵr Cymru’s accounting separation methodology statement
which is published separately (available on our website – www.dŵrcymru.com). The purpose of that document is to explain
the systems, processes and allocation methods involved in the preparation and population of the accounting separation
tables included within these regulatory accounts. The financial information used to populate the tables is processed and
extracted from the company’s accounting system and customer billing system.
Water and sewerage services
Alternative cost centre structures have been created (as part of Dŵr Cymru’s overall accounting separation cost centre group)
in the accounting system to allow water and sewerage service operational costs to be captured in a format that facilitates the
completion of the water and sewerage service tables.
It contains specific cost centre groups for each of the four water activities along with further groups capturing the cost of
scientific services and general and support activities. A number of ‘work management systems’ have been introduced in
recent years resulting in greater accuracy of cost allocation and a hugely reduced incidence of manual allocations across
activities.
Asset-related cost centres and most operational support staff can be directly attributed to an individual water activity. Nonoperational staff costs are allocated directly to activities where possible; where this has not been possible cost drivers have
been used to apportion departmental costs in line with Ofwat’s hierarchy of cost drivers.
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Retail service
An alternative cost centre structure has been created within the accounting system to allow retail operational costs to be
captured in a format that facilitates the completion of the retail service table.
The key components of total operating expenditure within the retail service are:
Management of the billing process;
Provision for doubtful debts;
Council commission;
The customer services team;
Finance customer services team;
New development costs;
Work carried out by network inspectors and customer service managers in the Water Distribution team following
billing-related customer meter queries;
Repairs to customer side leaks;
Sampling at customers taps;
Business Information Services; and
General and support costs.
Non-operational staff costs are allocated directly to activities where possible; where this has not been possible cost drivers
have been used to apportion departmental costs in line with Ofwat’s hierarchy of cost drivers.
Fixed assets
The fixed asset tables consist of capitalised assets as recorded on the fixed asset register plus assets under construction. The
opening balances are reconciled to the previous year’s closing balances and current year transactions are analysed as follows:
Assets in the SAP asset register are allocated to cost collectors which identify the operational business owner. Each
asset has an asset class which identifies the split between infrastructure, operational and other assets, and a review
of the current year’s expenditure is undertaken by reference to data capture sheets and meetings with capital
operational managers to ensure they are appropriate; and
Retail asset costs have been allocated on the number of household and non-household customers with the
exception of meters, which have been allocated on the number of numbers of metered household and nonhousehold metered customers. This is also used to analyse the depreciation charge and asset disposals by business
unit and asset type.
Appointed and non-appointed businesses
Each non-appointed activity is treated separately within the company’s accounting records. Examples of non-appointed
activities include non-monopoly rechargeable works, property searches and recreation and amenity services. Revenues, costs,
assets and liabilities are generally directly allocated to particular business activities. General and support costs have been
apportioned from the appointed business to the non-appointed business on an activity cost basis.
Capitalisation policy
Fixed assets are capitalised in accordance with FRS15, “Tangible Fixed Assets” except as modified by Ofwat’s Regulatory
Accounting Guidelines (see below under ‘Infrastructure assets’). Expenditure incurred to acquire or to construct assets is
capitalised. The cost of asset refurbishment is also capitalised if this results in either an extension to the useful economic life
of an asset or a substantial enhancement in the quality of its outputs.
The cost of an asset comprises the purchase cost and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for
its intended use. Directly attributable costs are the labour costs of employees arising directly from the acquisition or
construction of the asset (comprising salaries and on-costs) and other incremental costs that would have been avoided only if
the asset had not been acquired or constructed. Administration and other general overhead costs are excluded. Individual
assets costing below £2,000 are typically expensed to the profit and loss account unless they form part of a larger scheme of
capital work, in which case they are capitalised as part of the overall cost of that asset.
There has been no change to the capitalisation policy during the year, and there have been no changes in judgements,
apportionments or adjustments except as stated in the accounting separation methodology statement following the
availability of better information and/or changes to Ofwat’s accounting separation guidelines.
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Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets comprise:
(i)
(ii)

infrastructure assets (being mains and sewers, impounding and pumped raw water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge
pipelines and sea outfalls); and
other assets (including properties, above ground operational structures and equipment and fixtures and fittings).

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost of construction or purchase price and directly attributable costs. The carrying value of
tangible fixed assets is reviewed for impairment if circumstances dictate that it may not be recoverable.

Infrastructure assets
Infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems. Expenditure on infrastructure assets relating to increases in capacity,
enhancements or replacements of the network is treated as additions, which are included at cost after deducting grants and
contributions.
The infrastructure renewals charge (IRC) is based on the estimated level of annual expenditure required to maintain the
operating capability of the network over the medium to long-term. The company’s policy, which remains consistent with prior
years, is to calculate a 15 year forward-looking average using latest forecasts.
The regulatory historical cost balance sheet has been prepared in accordance with RD15/99, with the relevant sections of FRS
12 and FRS 15 being disapplied in relation to infrastructure renewals accounting. As a result, any cumulative difference
between IRC and actual infrastructure renewals expenditure in the year is held as a prepayment or accrual in the balance
sheet.

Other assets
Other assets are included at cost less accumulated depreciation. Freehold land is not depreciated. Other assets are
depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives, which are principally as follows:
Freehold buildings
Leasehold properties
Operational structures
Fixed plant
Vehicles, mobile plant, equipment and computer hardware & software

up to 60 years
over the lease period
40-80 years
8-40 years
3-16 years

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until commissioned.

Leased assets
Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements, which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an
asset to the lessee (i.e. finance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been purchased and the corresponding capital
cost is shown as an obligation to the lessor. Leasing payments are treated as consisting of a capital element and finance costs,
the capital element reducing the obligation to the lessor and the finance charges being written off to the profit and loss
account over the period of the lease in reducing amounts in relation to the written down amount. The assets are depreciated
over the shorter of their estimated useful life and the lease period. All other leases are regarded as operating leases. Rental
costs arising under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in the year to which they relate.

Grants and customer contributions
Grants and customer contributions relating to infrastructure assets have been offset against fixed assets (see note 10).
Grants and customer contributions in respect of expenditure on other fixed assets are treated as deferred income and
recognised in the profit and loss account over the expected useful economic lives of the related assets.

Capital expenditure programme incentive payments
The company’s agreement with its construction partners involved in delivering the capital expenditure programme
incorporates incentive bonuses payable after completion of the programmes. The cost of fixed asset additions include an
accrual for the proportion of incentive bonuses earned to date, relating to projects substantially completed at the year end,
where the likelihood of making the incentive payment is considered probable. Amounts recoverable from contract partners,
relating to targets not being achieved are recognised only on completed projects.
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Target cost contracts
The company maintains target cost contracts with its main operating partners. The company’s policy in respect of pain/gain
share receivables/payables arising from these contracts is to recognise gain payables over the period to which the charge
relates, and pain receivables as income only when final agreement with the relevant service partner has been reached.
Pension costs
The company operates two pension schemes, a defined contribution scheme and a defined benefit scheme. In respect of the
defined contribution scheme, the amount charged to the profit and loss account represents contributions payable to the
independent investment managers, who operate the schemes, in funds separate from those of the company.
The defined benefit scheme is funded by both employer and employee contributions. The assets are held by the Trustees
separately from the assets of the company. The fund is valued every three years by a professionally qualified independent
actuary. In the intervening years the actuary reviews the continuing appropriateness of the rates. The assets of the defined
benefit scheme are measured using closing market rates. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the attained age
method and discounted at the current rate of return on high quality corporate bonds of equivalent terms. The increase in the
present value of the scheme expected to arise from employees’ service during the period is charged to operating profit. The
expected return on scheme assets and the increase during the period in the present value of the scheme liabilities, arising
from the passage of time, are included as an interest expense. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses.
Debt and debt issue costs
Debt is initially stated at the amount of the net proceeds after deduction of issue costs. Debt issue costs are recognised in the
profit and loss account over the term of such instruments at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
Investments
Long term investments are held as fixed assets and stated at cost less amounts written off or provided to reflect permanent
diminution in value. Short term investments are held as current assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.
Financial instruments
Derivative instruments utilised by the company are interest rate and inflation swaps and certain power price hedging
contracts. Derivatives are used for hedging purposes to alter the risk profile of existing underlying exposures within the
company. Interest differentials, under swap arrangements used to manage interest rate exposure on borrowings and current
asset investments, are recognised by adjusting interest payable or receivable as appropriate.
Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the profit for the period as adjusted for disallowable and non-taxable items. In
accordance with FRS 19 “Deferred tax” full provision is made for all deferred tax liabilities arising from timing differences
between the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and their recognition in tax computations. Deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that they are considered recoverable. Recoverability is defined as when it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be sufficient taxable profits from which future reversal of the timing
differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is not discounted.
Provision for insurance liabilities
Provision is made for all known and estimated liabilities arising from uninsured claims against the company where there is a
present obligation and it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required.
Dividend policy
Dŵr Cymru’s ultimate parent undertaking is Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig, a company formed with the single purpose to acquire
and manage Dŵr Cymru. As a company limited by guarantee, and having no shareholders, all financial surpluses are
reinvested for the benefit customers. The reserves built up from retained profits help to insulate Dŵr Cymru and its
customers from any unexpected costs and also to improve credit quality to keep the cost of finance as low as possible.
As set out in note 11, as at 31 March 2014 Dŵr Cymru had an outstanding loan of £320.5m due from its parent undertaking,
Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited. Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited is a non-trading company and can only repay the loan using
distributions from its trading subsidiary. Such distributions are made only when Dŵr Cymru has distributable reserves as
defined in its statutory financial statements which are prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards.
The sole purpose of any dividend is therefore to provide the parent company with funding to repay its loan to Dŵr Cymru. No
monies are transferred out of the Glas Cymru group of companies in doing this and all financial surpluses are retained for the
benefit of customers. Any decision to declare a dividend is made having regard to the Company’s continuing ability to finance
its functions and to maintain stable credit ratings.
In the year to 31 March 2014, Dŵr Cymru paid no dividend (2013: none).
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2
Consolidated financial statements
These financial statements consolidate the results of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig and its wholly-owned subsidiary Dŵr Cymru
Customer Services Limited which, together, comprise all of Dŵr Cymru’s activities as an appointed business.

3

Segmental analysis by class of business

(a)

Turnover

Regulated water and sewerage activities
Non-regulated activities

(b)

2013
£m

726.5
10.0
736.5

707.6
8.8
716.4

2014
£m

2013
£m

235.4
(161.3)
(1.3)
72.8

220.7
(139.7)
(1.5)
79.5

2.6
0.3
2.9

0.7
0.3
1.0

75.7

80.5

2014
£m

2013
£m

982.8
42.2
1,025.0

881.9
39.5
921.4

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Regulated water and sewerage activities
Operating profit
Net interest payable
Other finance expense - pension interest cost

Non-regulated activities
Operating profit
Interest receivable

Total profit on activities before taxation

(c)

2014
£m

Net assets

Regulated water and sewerage activities
Non-regulated activities

All turnover and profit before taxation, by origin and destination, was attributable to the UK.
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Net operating costs
Total
2014
£m

Total
2013
£m

42.6
8.6
5.1
7.7
6.3
4.4
5.6
17.4
2.0
1.1
4.0
21.8
24.9
151.5

38.8
8.4
2.8
7.3
6.1
4.1
7.2
17.4
2.0
5.7
3.2
3.9
20.4
29.1
156.4

108.6
(43.5)
65.1

101.5
(35.9)
65.6

0.4
28.5
29.7
16.0
0.2

0.5
27.4
29.3
15.6
0.2

Total operational expenditure

291.4

295.0

Infrastructure renewals charge

69.5

67.9

Historical cost depreciation

138.3

132.3

Total operating costs

499.2

495.2

Operations
Power
Chemicals
Materials and equipment
Vehicles and plant
Office expenses
Property costs
Insurances
Warer & Sewerage contractors
Water costs
Customer service contract
Laboratories and amalytical services
Collection commissions
IT contracts
Other bought in services

Employee costs
Staff costs capitalised

Research and development expenditure
Trade receivables impairment
Rates
Environment Agency charges
Fees payable to auditors

The customer services contract with Veolia Water Outsourcing Limited was terminated during the year to 31 March 2013 and,
from 1 August 2012, provided by a group Company, Dŵr Cymru Customer Services Limited (DCCS). The operational
expenditure of DCCS is consolidated within the relevant cost categories above and not shown as customer services contract
expenditure.
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Net operating costs cont’d

Auditors’ remuneration
Auditors during the period were PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. They were used primarily for audit services, including
regulatory audit services carried out to meet Ofwat reporting requirements.
2014
£000

2013
£000

Audit
Audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements
Audit of subsidiary companies
Audit related assurance services
Review of interim financial statements
Regulatory audit services pursuant to legislation
Regulatory price review assurance work
Investor report reviews
Total audit and audit-related assurance services

13
91
104
23
28
49
8
212

12
87
99
23
41
41
8
212

Other services
Replacement billings systmes project assurance work
Other
Total other services

74
27
101

24
24

Total cost of services provided by the group's auditors

313

236

Regulatory audit services include work on the regulatory accounts and Principal Statement. In addition to the above services,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as auditor to the DCWW Pension Scheme. The appointment of auditors to the pension
scheme and the fees paid in respect of the audit are agreed by the trustees of the scheme, who act independently from the
management of the Group. The fees paid in respect of audit services to the pension scheme during the year were £18,000
(2013: £18,000).
The Board has adopted a formal policy with respect to services received from external auditors. The external auditor will not
be used for internal audit services and all non-audit work above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject to prior competitive
tendering and approval by the Audit Committee.
5

Directors and employees

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The combined emoluments of the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig for their services as Directors of the company are set
out below:

Salary (including benefits in kind)
Fees
Long term incentive plan

2014
£000

2013
£000

1,434
578
2,012
304
2,316

1,270
561
1,831
214
2,045

Retirement benefits accrued to three directors during the year (2013 – three) under defined benefit schemes. None of the
directors was a member of the defined contribution scheme (2013: none).
Under the Annual Variable Pay Scheme (AVPS), payment has been made in the current year equivalent to 23.2% of base
salary for performance against the corporate Performance Scorecard, 21.9% for financial performance and 4.75 - 8.5% against
Strategic and Personal Objectives, making a total payment in the range of 49.85% - 53.6%. This compared to a maximum of
100%.
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Directors and employees cont’d

Under the Long Term Variable Pay Scheme (LTVPS) provision has been made for a 40% staged payment of the Customer
Equity element of the scheme, reflecting a strong financial performance in the first three years of the regulatory period 20102015, but no provision was made for a Customer Service award. (Further details are provided in the 2014 Remuneration
Report which forms part of Glas Cymru’s 2014 Report and Accounts. This meets the requirements of section 50 of the Water
Act 2003 to describe the link between Directors’ pay and standards of performance and the narrative has been reproduced
on page 16 of this document.) The 2013/14 accounts include an accrual for an interim payment of £304,062 (equivalent to
40% of base salary) reflecting the Remuneration Committee’s current estimate of performance under the LTVPS in respect of
the five year period ending 31 March 2015.
The performance bonus of £214,476 in respect of 2012/13 as accrued at 31 March 2013 was paid in July 2013 following the
publication of the Service Incentive Mechanism performance data for 2012/13.
2014
£000

2013
£000

Highest paid director: N C Annett (2013: N C Annett)
Aggregate emoluments

552

506

Accrued pension under defined benefit scheme
Long term incentive plan

151
115

141
135

2014
£m

2013
£m

82.5
7.0
12.0
101.5

82.5
7.0
12.0
101.5

(b)

Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

Of the above, £43.5m (2013: £35.9m) has been charged to capital.

(c)

Average monthly number of employees during the year (including Executive Directors)
2014
2013
Number Number

Regulated water and sewerage activities

6

2,871

2,617

Operating income

Profit on disposal of fixed assets

2014
£m

2013
£m

0.7

0.2
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Net interest payable

Interest payable on loans
Interest payable on finance leases
Other interest payable and finance costs
Interest payable

2014
£m

2013
£m

(137.2)
(27.7)
(3.7)
(168.6)

(136.2)
(8.0)
(3.7)
(147.9)

6.3

7.0

(162.3)

(140.9)

Interest receivable
Net interest payable

Included within interest payable are amounts payable to group undertakings of £131.7m (2013: £132.8m).
8

Taxation

Analysis of (credit)/charge in the year
2014
£m

2013
£m

(0.9)
(1.5)
(2.4)

(0.4)
(0.4)

19.2
1.4
(33.7)
(13.1)

15.6
40.5
(10.4)
45.7

2.9
(10.2)

45.7

4.6

(0.1)

(5.6)

45.6

(8.0)

45.2

2014
£m

2013
£m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

75.7

80.5

Profit before tax multiplied by the corporation tax rate in the UK of 23% (2013: 24%)

17.4

19.3

0.3
(3.0)
3.0
(18.6)
(0.9)

0.2
(1.0)
(1.1)
(17.4)
0.0

Adjustments in respect of prior years

(1.5)

(0.4)

Total current tax credit

(2.4)

(0.4)

Current tax
- Current year
- Prior year
Deferred tax
- Origin and reversal of timing differences - current year
- Origin and reversal of timing differences - prior years
- Effect of change in rate of tax

- Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme

Movement on deferred tax asset relating to pension scheme included in total recognised gains and losses

Total taxation (credit)/charge

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Other timing differences
Tax losses utilised
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
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Dividends
2014
£m

2013
£m

-

-

Dividends on ordinary shares
£1 ordinary shares (2014 nil per share; 2013 nil per share)

10

Tangible fixed assets

Analysis by type
Vehicles, plant,
equipment,
computer
Operational hardware and
structures
software
£m
£m

Freehold land &
buildings
£m

Infrastructure
assets
£m

35.6

2,709.3

3,013.1

511.7

6,269.7

1.1
36.7

111.2
2,820.5

172.6
3,185.7

54.7
566.4

339.6
6,609.3

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2013
Charge for the year
At 31 March 2014

18.8
0.4
19.2

1,037.8
93.9
1,131.7

1,308.9
118.3
1,427.2

291.9
21.0
312.9

2,657.4
233.6
2,891.0

Net book value
At 31 March 2014
At 31 March 2013

17.5
16.8

1,688.8
1,671.5

1,758.5
1,704.2

253.5
219.8

3,718.3
3,612.3

17.5
17.5

1,077.0
611.8
1,688.8

1,758.5
1,758.5

133.2
120.3
253.5

2,986.2
732.1
3,718.3

Current year
Cost
At 1 April 2013
Additions net of grants and
contributions
At 31 March 2014

Analysis of net book value
at 31 March 2014
Owned
Held under finance leases

Total
£m

Tangible fixed assets at 31 March 2014 include £128.0m (2013: £153.1m) of assets in the course of construction, which are
not depreciated until commissioned.
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Tangible fixed assets cont’d

In accordance with RD 15/99, the infrastructure renewals charge reported in the profit and loss account was £64.5m (2013:
£67.9m). The difference between the profit and loss account charge and the depreciation charge in respect of infrastructure
assets shown above is included within prepayments and accrued income.
Analysis by service
Water
services
£m

Sewerage
services
£m

General
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 1 April 2013
Additions
At 31 March 2014

2,632.4
141.1
2,773.5

3,200.6
143.8
3,344.4

436.7
54.7
491.4

6,269.7
339.6
6,609.3

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2013
Charge for the year
At 31 March 2014

1,129.6
98.8
1,228.4

1,231.7
104.1
1,335.8

296.1
30.7
326.8

2,657.4
233.6
2,891.0

Net book value
At 31 March 2014
At 31 March 2013

1,545.1
1,502.8

2,008.6
1,968.9

164.6
140.6

3,718.3
3,612.3

1,379.6
165.5
1,545.1

1,442.0
566.6
2,008.6

164.6
164.6

2,986.2
732.1
3,718.3

Current year

Analysis of net book value
at 31 March 2014
Owned
Held under finance leases

All tangible fixed assets held by the company are of an appointed nature.
The accounting treatment for grants and customer contributions in respect of infrastructure assets is described in the
principal accounting policies in note 1. This treatment is not in accordance with Companies Act 2006 provisions requiring
fixed assets to be shown at the purchase price or production cost and hence grants and contributions would be presented
under the Act as deferred income. The treatment explained in note 1 has been adopted in accordance with section 403(5) of
the Companies Act 2006 in order to show a true and fair view as, in the opinion of the Directors, it is not appropriate to treat
grants and contributions on infrastructure assets as deferred income. The fixed assets to which they relate do not have
determinable finite lives and therefore no basis exists for releasing any deferred income to the profit and loss account. As a
consequence, the net book value of fixed assets and deferred income is £329m (2013: £322m) lower than it would have been
the case had grants and contributions been treated as deferred income indefinitely.
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(a) Investment – loan to group Company

Cost and net book value
At 1 April and 31 March

2014
£m

2013
£m

320.5

320.5

Interest of £38.5m for the year (2013: £38.5m) has been waived by the Company on the amount owed by group
undertakings.

(b) Investment - other

Cost and net book value
At 1 April and 31 March

2014
£m

2013
£m

0.1

0.1

Equity of less than 10% is held in the following unlisted Company:

Water Research Centre (1989) plc

Principal activity

Country of incorporation

Water research

England and Wales

Holding
“B” Ordinary Shares of £1

In addition, the Company holds 5% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2014 at a cost of £23,326 in Water Research Centre
(1989) plc. This was redeemed on 31 March 2014.
100% interest in the following subsidiary:

Welsh Water Utilities Finance plc

Principal activity

Country of incorporation

Raising finance

England and Wales

Dŵr Cymru Customer Services Ltd Income and billing services England and Wales

12

Holding
Ordinary shares of £1
100%

Other current assets
Note

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Stock
Prepayments and accrued income
Cash at bank and in hand
Short term investments

13

2014
£m

2013
£m

48.3
20.2
2.3
67.4
4.6
87.9
230.7

46.9
17.0
1.7
72.1
(12.0)
167.8
293.5
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Short term investments

Investments in fixed term and call deposits due within one year

2014
£m

2013
£m

87.9

167.8

Short term investments include highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Such investments are normally those with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition and typically comprise deposits with banks or other financial institutions.
Treasury activities are managed under policies, procedures and authorities approved by the Board of Directors.
14

Creditors

Note
Amounts falling due within one year
Loans
- Owed to group undertakings
- External
Obligations under finance leases
Borrowings

15
15
16

Trade creditors
Capital creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
External interest accruals
Other creditors

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Loans
- Owed to group undertakings
- External
Obligations under finance leases

15
15
16

Interest accruals
Deferred income

19

2014
£m

2013
£m

16.2
0.3
13.2
29.7

64.9
0.3
14.3
79.5

45.7
30.2
1.8
3.8
64.8
0.3
146.6

48.3
33.9
3.7
3.4
64.9
0.2
154.4

176.3

233.9

2014
£m

2013
£m

2,236.7
35.8
558.1
2,830.6

2,138.9
36.0
602.0
2,776.9

49.2
20.8
70.0

38.5
22.2
60.7

2,900.6

2,837.6

As part of the Glas Cymru Group’s bond programme, a security package was granted by the Company for the benefit of
holders of senior bonds, finance lessors and other senior financial creditors. The obligations of the Company are guaranteed
by Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig, Glas Cymru (Securities) Limited and Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited.
The main elements of the security package are:
a first fixed and floating security over all of the Company’s assets and undertaking, to the extent permitted by the Water
Industry Act, other applicable law and its licence; and
a fixed and floating security given by the guarantors referred to above which are secured on each of the Company’s
assets, including, in the case of Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, a first fixed charge over its shares in the Company.
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Loans due to group undertakings and other loans

Repayable as follows:
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
After more than five years

Interest rates on these loans ranged as follows:
Index-linked debt
Other debt

2014
£m

2013
£m

16.5
12.1
127.6
2,132.8
2,289.0

65.2
16.3
89.0
2,069.6
2,240.1

2014

2013

1.61% to 6.06%
1.11% to 6.91%

1.54% to 5.78%
0.95% to 8.17%

Costs directly attributable to the raising of debt are capitalised in accordance with FRS4 and are amortised to the profit and
loss account over the term of the debt.

16

Finance leases

Repayable as follows:
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
After more than five years

17

2014
£m

2013
£m

13.2
14.1
86.9
457.1
571.3

14.3
43.3
83.8
474.9
616.3

Capital commitments

The company’s business plan at 31 March 2014 shows net capital expenditure of £330m (2013: £313m) during the next
financial year. While only a portion of this amount has been formally contracted for, the company is effectively committed to
the total as part of its overall capital expenditure programme approved by its regulator.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges
2014
£m

2013
£m

226.6
3.1
2.2
6.6
1.5
3.0
2.5
245.5

239.7
7.0
2.2
7.2
1.7
4.3
25.1
287.2

2014
£m

2013
£m

Tax effect of timing differences
Excess of tax allowances over depreciation
Other timing differences
Provision for deferred tax

289.9
(63.3)
226.6

350.9
(111.2)
239.7

Provision at 1 April
Deferred tax credit for year in profit and loss account
Net deferred tax provision at 31 March

239.7
(13.1)
226.6

194.1
45.6
239.7

Note
Deferred taxation
Restructuring provision
Dilapidations provision
Provision for uninsured losses
Provision for loss on swap closure
Other provisions
Retirement benefit obligations

(a)

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
24

Deferred taxation

The provision for deferred tax represents the tax effect of timing differences, which are expected to crystallise over periods of
up to 85 years.

(b)

Restructuring provision

This provides for the costs of terminating the outsourced contracts along with the estimated restructuring costs associated
with a reduction in the headcount by some 300.
£m
At 1 April 2013
Charge to profit and loss account
Utilised in year
At 31 March 2014

(c)

7.0
(3.9)
3.1

Dilapidations provision

This provision is in respect of payments to be made relating to estimated dilapidation costs, which will be utilised over the
next three years.
£m
At 1 April 2013
Charge to profit and loss account
Utilised in year
At 31 March 2014

2.1
0.1
2.2
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(d)

Provisions for liabilities and charges cont’d
Provision for uninsured losses

This provision is in respect of uninsured losses; its utilisation period is uncertain due to the nature of insurance claims, but is
estimated to be five years.
£m
At 1 April 2013
Charge to profit and loss account
Utilised in year
At 31 March 2014

(e)

7.2
1.0
(1.6)
6.6

Provision for loss on swap closure

This provision is in respect of a liability that arose on the cancellation of certain interest rate swap contracts. These contracts
were redeemed early and the loss arising on redemption was settled by setting a higher rate on another swap contract. This
provision is being released to the profit and loss account over the life of the revised swap, which expires on 31 March 2031.
£m
At 1 April 2013
Charge to profit and loss account
Utilised in year
At 31 March 2014

(f)

1.7
(0.2)
1.5

Other provisions

Other provisions are made for certain other obligations which arise during the ordinary course of the group’s business.
£m
At 1 April 2013
Charge to profit and loss account
Utilised in year
At 31 March 2014

19

4.3
0.2
(1.5)
3.0

Deferred income

Deferred income relates to income received and receivable upon completion of assets under construction and will be
credited to the profit and loss account over the lifetime of those assets.

At 1 April 2013
Released to profit and loss account
At 31 March 2014

2014
£m

2013
£m

22.2
(1.4)
20.8

23.6
(1.4)
22.2
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Called up share capital

2014
£m

2013
£m

Authorised
501,050,000 ordinary shares of £1 each

501.1

501.1

Allotted, called up and fully paid
309,876,374 ordinary shares of £1 each

309.9

309.9

21

Reserves

a) Profit and loss account
£m
At 1 April 2013
Retained profit for the year
Actuarial gain on pension scheme
Other gains and losses
At 31 March 2014

445.4
88.3
19.9
(4.6)
549.0

b) Capital redemption reserve
£m
At 1 April 2013 and at 31 March 2014

22

Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholder’s funds

At 1 April
Retained profit for the year
Actuarial gain on pension scheme
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension liability
Dividends paid
At 31 March

23

166.2

2014
£m

2013
£m

921.4
88.3
19.9
(4.6)
1,025.0

884.0
35.2
2.3
(0.1)
921.4

Directors' and officers' loans and transactions

No loan or credit transaction with any Director, officer or connected person existed during the year or was outstanding at the
year-end.
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Pensions

The company operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for current employees (based on final pensionable salary
and pensionable service), the DCWW Pension Scheme. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee administered
fund. The DCWW Pension Scheme was closed to new members from 31 December 2005 and a new defined contribution
scheme, the Dŵr Cymru Defined Contribution Scheme, was introduced from 1 January 2006.
Defined benefit scheme
A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken as at 31 March 2013 by Joanne Eynon of Quantum Advisory, an
independent, professionally qualified actuary, using the attained age method. This valuation was updated at 31 March 2014
and the principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries
Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption
Post retirement mortality (life expectancy):
- Current pensioners age 65 - males
- Current pensioners age 65 - females
- Future pensioners age 65 (currently age 45) - males
- Future pensioners age 65 (currently age 45) - females
Expected return on assets

2014

2013

2.3%
3.2%
4.4%
3.4%

3.3%
3.1%
4.5%
3.2%

87.1 years
89.3 years
88.4 years
90.8 years
5.00%

86.9 years
86.9 years
89.8 years
92.5 years
5.00%

The expected rates of return on the assets in the scheme were:

2014
Expected % of total
return
assets
Equities
Bonds
Other

6.5%
5.0%
3.0%

54.6%
32.2%
13.2%

2013
Expected % of total
return
assets
6.5%
5.0%
3.0%

54.8%
28.6%
16.6%

The following amounts at 31 March were measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17: “Retirement benefits”.

Present value of scheme liabilities
Total market value of assets
Total plan liability
Related deferred tax asset
EFRBS unfunded liability
Net liability recognised in the balance sheet

2014
£m

2013
£m

(320.1)
318.9
(1.2)
0.2
(1.4)
(2.4)

(323.3)
291.2
(32.1)
7.7
(0.6)
(25.0)

77

Notes to the historical cost financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2014 cont’d
24

Pensions cont’d
2014
£m

2013
£m

9.6
0.2
9.8

10.6
2.3
12.9

14.7
(17.1)
(2.4)

14.1
(12.6)
1.5

7.4

14.4

2014
£m

2013
£m

Net actuarial gain recognised in year

19.9

2.4

Total recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses

19.9

2.4

2014
£m

2013
£m

(32.1)
(7.4)
19.8
2.4
16.1
(1.2)

(31.9)
(14.4)
2.4
0.6
11.2
(32.1)

Current service cost (excluding member contributions)
Past service cost
Total included within operating profit
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Total included within net interest payable
Total recognised in the profit and loss account

Movement in deficit during the year:

At 1 April
Total charge to profit and loss account
Total credit to statement of recognised gains and losses
Bulk transfer
Contributions paid (excluding member contributions)
At 31 March

History of experience gains and losses

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

Difference between the actual and expected return on scheme assets:
- Amount (£m)
- Percentage of scheme assets

(2.9)
(3%)

17.9
6%

(9.5)
(4%)

(8.2)
(4%)

10.0
21%

Experience loss on scheme liabilities:
- Amount (£m)
- Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities

(5.1)
(5%)

(15.6)
(6%)

(16.3)
(6%)

3.6
2%

11.5
21%

Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses
- Amount (£m)
- Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities

19.9
9%

2.3
9%

(25.8)
(9%)

(4.6)
(2%)

(1.5)
(3%)
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Elan Valley Trust Fund

In 1984 Welsh Water Authority entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Severn Trent Water Authority
for the sale of the aqueduct and associated works by which the bulk supply to Severn Trent reservoirs is conveyed.
The sum of £31.7m, representing the consideration for the conditional sale, was invested in a trust fund. The principal
function of the fund was to provide an income to Welsh Water Authority, whilst preserving the capital value of the fund in
real terms. Welsh Water Authority's interest in this fund was vested in Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under the provisions of the
Water Act 1989.
The assets of the fund are not included in these financial statements. As at 31 March 2014 the market value of the trust fund
was £103m (2013: £112m).
Interest receivable includes £5.6m (2013: £4.6m) in respect of the Elan Valley Trust Fund.

26

Disclosure of transactions with associates

There were no transactions with any associated companies except for:
the Directors of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig are also directors of other companies within the Glas Cymru Group. However, the
emoluments of the Directors are paid in full by Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig as their activities are predominantly related to the
regulated water and sewerage business. During the year the Directors’ emoluments amounted to £2,315,678 (2013:
£2,044,657);
investments include a loan to the company’s immediate parent company, Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, of £320.5m
(2013: £320.5m), included in debtors. The interest rate on this loan is 12%, and loan interest of £38.5m (2013: £38.5m)
has been waived by the company during the year. The interest waiver is a practical alternative to funding the interest
otherwise receivable by the company by means of an ordinary dividend; and
the proceeds of the Group’s bond programme have been on-lent to Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig under an Intercompany loan
agreement. Under the terms of this agreement, the interest rates payable by the Company are based on the interest rates
payable to the bondholders after taking into account interest rate and currency swaps, plus a margin of 0.01%.

27

Immediate and ultimate holding Company

The Company’s immediate parent company is Dŵr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, which is registered in England and Wales.
The ultimate holding company is Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig, whose consolidated financial statements can be obtained from the
Company Secretary at Pentwyn Road, Nelson, Treharris, Mid Glamorgan CF46 6LY.
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Reconciliation of regulatory accounts to statutory financial statements

Dŵr Cymru’s regulatory accounts for the year ended 31 March 2014 are prepared on the basis of Regulatory Accounting
Guidelines and UK accounting standards. However, the company’s statutory financial statements are prepared under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The principal differences between the company’s regulatory accounts and
its statutory financial statements are set out below.

Profit and loss account / income statement

2014
£m

2013
£m

a) Operating costs
Per regulatory accounts
Difference in infrastructure accounting
Difference in depreciation (including amortisation of grants and contributions)
Differences between IAS 19 and FRS 17
Other UK GAAP/IFRS differences
Per statutory financial statements

499.2
2.3
25.4
5.0
531.9

495.2
11.5
26.5
2.7
(0.1)
535.8

b) Net financing costs
Per regulatory accounts
Capitalisation of borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23
Fair value (gains)/ losses on derivative financial instruments per IAS 39
Per statutory financial statements

162.3
(7.9)
(64.8)
89.6

140.9
(6.5)
34.9
169.3

c) Taxation credit/(charge)
Per regulatory accounts
Other UK GAAP/IFRS differences
Per statutory financial statements

12.6
0.4
13.0

(45.3)
49.8
4.5

Balance sheet

2014
£m

2013
£m

a) Fixed assets
Cost
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Effect of 2004 IFRS asset revaluation
Intangible assets separately identified under IFRS
Infrastructure renewals expenditure expensed in previous years under IFRS
Infrastructure renewals expenditure expensed in year under IFRS
Section 19 expenditure capitalised in previous years
IFRIC 18 adopted assets
Capitalisation of borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23
Other IFRS diffferences (relating principally to finance leases)
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

6,609.3
(449.1)
(185.0)
(572.5)
(71.8)
(121.0)
87.0
32.6
3.3
5,332.8

6,269.7
(449.1)
(154.7)
(493.1)
(79.4)
(121.0)
72.1
24.7
3.0
5,072.2

Depreciation
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Adjustment to opening balance
Intangible assets separately identified under IFRS
Depreciation charge for infrastructure assets (net of depreciation on disposal) - prior years
Depreciation charge for infrastructure assets (net of depreciation on disposal) - current year
Other IFRS differences (relating principally to finance leases)
Infrastructure depreciation per IFRS - prior years
Infrastructure depreciation per IFRS - current year
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

2,891.0
(442.9)
(101.1)
(630.3)
(93.9)
5.0
236.6
26.0
1,890.4

2,657.4
(442.9)
(88.6)
(527.0)
(103.3)
3.9
212.3
24.3
1,736.1
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Reconciliation of regulatory accounts to statutory financial statements
2014
£m

2013
£m

(21.9)
(109.1)
(131.0)

(28.0)
(167.8)
(195.8)

87.9
(87.9)
-

167.8
(167.8)
-

d) Cash at bank and in hand / cash and cash equivalents
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Reclassified from current asset investments for IFRS
Dwr Cymru Customer Services current asset investment
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

4.6
87.9
(0.9)
91.6

(12.0)
167.8
(1.2)
154.6

e) Other current assets
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Creditor balances included within current assets under IFRS
DCCS cash
Advance billings grossed up under IFRS
Other difference
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

230.7
2.2
(0.9)
387.5
(0.1)
619.4

293.5
1.2
(1.2)
388.9
(0.1)
682.3

2.5
0.4
2.9

25.1
7.7
32.8

g) Deferred income
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Net advance billings recognised under IFRS
Accruals under IFRS (disclosed together with deferred income)
Deferred income under IAS 23 and IFRIC 18
Write-back of deferred income under IFRS
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

20.8
387.9
63.1
82.5
(20.8)
533.5

22.2
388.9
63.9
69.8
(22.2)
522.6

h) Deferred taxation provision
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Deferred tax on rolled over capital gains
Deferred tax on abolition of Industrial Buildings Allowances
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligations
Deferred tax on deriviatives
Other timing differences
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

227.6
3.7
31.3
(0.2)
(30.1)
(6.3)
226.0

239.7
3.7
40.1
(7.6)
(45.0)
230.9

Balance sheet cont'd
b) Derivative financial instruments
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Derivative non-current financial assets
Derivative current financial liabilities
Derivative non-current financial assets
At 31 March per statutory financial statements
c) Current asset investments / held to maturity investments
At 31 March per regulatory accounts (note 13)
Reclassified as cash and cash equivalents for IFRS
At 31 March per statutory financial statements

f) Retirement benefit obligations
At 31 March per regulatory accounts
Add back related deferred tax asset
At 31 March per statutory financial statements
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Current cost profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2014
(appointed business only)
Water Sewerage
2014
2014
£m
£m

Total
2014
£m

Water Sewerage
2013
2013
£m
£m

Total
2013
£m

Turnover
Unmeasured - household
- non-household
Measured
- household
- non-household
Trade effluent
Bulk supplies/inter company payments
Other third party services (incl non-potable water)
Other sources

163.3
2.5
59.1
69.1
9.3
15.0
6.8

229.5
3.2
93.2
57.1
9.7
8.7
-

392.8
5.7
152.3
126.2
9.7
18.0
15.0
6.8

163.6
2.5
54.7
66.7
8.7
14.5
7.2

228.8
3.2
86.3
55.7
9.0
6.7
-

392.4
5.7
141.0
122.4
9.0
15.4
14.5
7.2

Total turnover

325.1

401.4

726.5

317.9

389.7

707.6

(223.0)
(28.0)

(225.1)
(34.6)

(448.1)
(62.6)

(214.6)
(29.7)

(207.4)
(36.5)

(422.0)
(66.2)

Operating income

0.3

0.4

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.2

Working capital adjustment

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.8

Current cost operating profit

74.5

142.3

216.8

74.1

146.3

220.4

(79.8)
16.5

(82.6)
17.0

(162.4)
33.5

(70.6)
19.7

(70.5)
19.6

(141.1)
39.3

11.2

76.7

87.9

23.2

95.4

118.6

0.2

-

0.2

0.2

-

0.2

Current cost operating costs - wholesale
Current cost operating costs - retail

Other income
Net Interest
Financing adjustment
Current cost profit before taxation
Net revenue movement out of tariff basket

The value for large user revenues has been based on potable supplies of 250ML per year and above, which are excluded from
the tariff basket. Ofwat have defined “large users” as those using 100ML per year. However, this level has not been agreed
within Wales and consequently 250ML per year has been used.
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Current cost balance sheet as at 31 March 2014 (appointed business only)
Note

2014
£m

2013
£m

37,598.2
(11,509.8)
26,088.4

38,328.3
(11,227.7)
27,100.6

320.5
0.1
26,409.0

320.5
0.1
27,421.2

77.8
43.8

53.7
103.4

(29.7)
(2.1)
(31.8)

(79.5)
(3.9)
(83.4)

89.8

73.7

Total assets less current liabilities

26,498.8

27,494.9

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Borrowings
Other creditors
Total creditors: amounts falling due after one year

(2,830.6)
(65.7)
(2,896.3)

(2,799.1)
(38.6)
(2,837.7)

(229.1)

(264.9)

Net assets employed

23,373.4

24,392.3

Capital and reserves

23,373.5

24,392.3

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Grants and contributions

Investments
- loan to group company
- other
Total fixed assets
Infrastructure renewals prepayment
Other current assets
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings
Other creditors
Total creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets

Provisions for liabilities and charges

2b
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Current cost cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2014 (appointed
business only)
2014
£m

2013
£m

216.8
(0.3)
(0.4)
157.2
(0.7)
69.5
(19.2)
422.9

220.4
(0.8)
(21.8)
133.5
(0.2)
67.9
5.4
404.4

Returns on investments & servicing of finance
Taxation receipt

(168.7)
-

(117.5)
4.2

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Gross cost of purchase of fixed assets
Receipt of grants and contributions
Infrastructure renewals expenditure
Disposal of fixed assets
Net cash outflow from investing activities

(263.1)
13.9
(93.7)
0.7
(342.2)

(252.4)
13.7
(79.4)
0.2
(317.9)

Equity dividends paid
Net cash flow from management of liquid resources

82.7

148.1

Net cash flow before financing

(5.3)

121.3

Net cash flow from financing

21.9

(117.4)

Increase in cash

16.6

3.9

Current cost operating profit
Working capital adjustment
Movement in working capital
Current cost depreciation
Current cost profit on sale of fixed assets
Infrastructure renewals charge
Movement in provisions
Net cash flow from operating activities
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2014
1

Accounting policies

The accounting policies used are the same as those adopted in the historical cost financial statements, except as set out
below.
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared for the appointed business of Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig in accordance with
guidance issued by the Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat) for modified real terms financial statements suitable for
regulation in the water industry. They measure profitability on the basis of real financial capital maintenance, in the context
of assets which are valued at their current cost value to the business.
Real financial capital maintenance adjustments
These adjustments are made to historical cost profit in order to arrive at profit after the maintenance of financial capital in
real terms.
Depreciation adjustment - this is the difference between depreciation based on the current cost value of assets in these
accounts and depreciation charged in arriving at historical cost profit.
Working capital adjustment - this is calculated by applying the change in Retail Price Index (RPI) over the year to the opening
total of working capital (see note 3).
Financing adjustment - this is calculated by applying the change in the RPI over the year to the opening balance of net
finance, which comprises all monetary assets and liabilities in the balance sheet apart from those included in working capital,
and liabilities that are already indexed linked through the historical cost profit and loss account.
Valuation bases for determining depreciation and disposal adjustment
i)

Current cost asset values

All fixed assets are valued using the Modern Equivalent Asset Revaluation (‘MEAV’) completed as part of the PR14 Business
Plan, and adjusted for enhancement additions which increase the value of the asset subsequent to 31 March 2013 (being the
date of the MEAV). MEAV values are uplifted using RPI. This ensures assets are valued as closely as possible to their current
replacement costs.
ii)

Adoption of private sewers

On 1 October 2011 Dŵr Cymru Cyfyngedig assumed responsibility for managing the private sewers network in its operational
area; the transfer of an estimated 17,000km of private drains and sewers has increased the size of the network significantly.
As required by RAG 1.10.9 these assets have been valued in the company’s current cost balance sheet within tangible fixed
assets, at a MEAV of £11.2bn, with a corresponding contribution being reflected in third party contributions. The adoption
has no effect on the company's net assets.
iii)

Disposals

Asset disposals are recorded as maintenance expenditure is committed to ensure the asset stock is valued at its replacement
cost. The value of disposals each year represents the equivalent retirement from the MEAV. This amount is also shown in
cumulative current cost depreciation.
iv)

Current cost depreciation

Assets from the MEAV are depreciated by applying asset lives in line with the historic cost asset register combined with
condition grades of the assets at the time of the MEAV. Asset additions are depreciated using asset lives straight out of the
historic cost asset register and inflated using RPI to the report year.
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 cont’d
2(a) Analysis of fixed assets (wholesale business only)

Resources
£m

Water
Raw water
distribution
Treatment
£m
£m

Treated
distribution
£m

Water subtotal
£m

Sewage
collection
£m

Sewerage
Sewage
Sludge
treatment
treatment
£m
£m

Sludge
disposal
£m

Sewerage
sub-total
£m

Total
£m

Non-Infrastructure assets
Gross replacement cost
At 1 April 2013
AMP adjustment
Reclassification adjustment
RPI adjustment
Disposals
Additions
At 31 March 2014

70.656
60.128
3.208
(1.165)
2.113
134.940

202.843
(172.871)
0.735
(0.027)
0.525
31.205

966.531
(127.738)
(2.009)
20.574
(17.878)
81.908
921.388

1,166.887
(217.289)
(2.009)
23.291
(9.397)
21.472
982.955

2,406.917
(457.770)
(4.018)
47.808
(28.467)
106.018
2,070.488

801.289
(213.670)
(2.456)
14.413
(5.641)
17.900
611.835

2,245.498
(364.544)
(2.456)
46.135
(22.357)
84.027
1,986.303

328.988
(173.883)
3.804
(0.789)
4.351
162.471

2.389
0.059
2.448

3,375.775
(749.708)
(4.912)
64.411
(28.787)
106.278
2,763.057

5,782.692
(1,207.478)
(8.930)
112.219
(57.254)
212.296
4,833.545

Depreciation
At 1 April 2013
AMP adjustment
Reclassification adjustment
RPI adjustment
Disposals
Charge for year
At 31 March 2014

32.797
5.015
0.928
(1.165)
4.615
42.190

162.661
(160.721)
0.048
(0.027)
1.104
3.065

545.831
(41.732)
12.364
(17.878)
33.434
532.019

467.041
(260.943)
5.056
(9.397)
23.007
224.764

1,208.330
(458.381)
18.396
(28.467)
62.160
802.038

404.126
(59.593)
8.451
(5.641)
23.449
370.792

1,591.664
(908.799)
16.749
(22.357)
65.242
742.499

132.680
(71.090)
1.510
(0.789)
5.471
67.782

0.849
0.025
0.332
1.206

2,128.469
(1,038.633)
26.735
(28.787)
94.494
1,182.278

3,336.799
(1,497.014)
45.131
(57.254)
156.654
1,984.316

Net book amount at 31 March 2014

92.750

28.140

389.369

758.191

1,268.450

241.043

1,243.804

94.689

1.242

1,580.778

2,849.228

Net book amount at 1 April 2013

37.859

40.182

420.700

699.846

1,198.587

397.163

653.834

196.308

-

1,247.306

2,445.893

Infrastructure assets
Gross replacement cost
At 1 April 2013
AMP adjustment
Reclassification adjustment
RPI adjustment
Disposals
Additions
At 31 March 2014

769.768
47.538
20.046
0.026
837.378

452.222
(287.538)
4.039
168.723

-

7,086.664
(760.805)
155.158
5.218
6,486.235

8,308.654
(1,000.805)
179.243
5.244
7,492.336

27,049.282
(941.830)
644.373
19.225
26,771.050

512.521
(73.891)
10.759
0.027
449.416

-

-

27,561.803
(1,015.721)
655.132
19.252
27,220.466

35,870.457
(2,016.526)
834.375
24.496
34,712.802

Total net book amount at 31 March 2014

930.128

196.863

389.369

7,244.426

8,760.786

27,012.093

1,693.220

94.689

1.242

28,801.245

37,562.031
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2014 cont’d
2(b) Analysis of retail and total appointed business fixed assets

Household
£m

Nonhousehold
£m

Total
retail
£m

Total wholesale
£m

Total fixed assets
(appointed business)
£m

Gross replacement cost
At 1 April 2013
AMP adjustment
Reclassification adjustment
RPI adjustment
Disposals
Additions
At 31 March 2014

14.477
7.936
0.550
14.239
37.202

0.036
0.995
0.025
2.596
3.652

14.513
8.931
0.575
16.835
40.854

41,653.149
(3,224.004)
(8.930)
946.594
(57.254)
236.792
39,546.347

41,667.662
(3,224.004)
0.001
947.169
(57.254)
253.627
39,587.201

Depreciation
At 1 April 2013
AMP adjustment
Reclassification adjustment
RPI adjustment
Disposals
Charge for year
At 31 March 2014

2.396
0.059
1.588
4.043

0.195
0.005
0.419
0.619

2.591
0.064
2.007
4.662

3,336.799
(1,497.014)
45.131
(57.254)
156.654
1,984.316

3,339.390
(1,497.014)
45.195
(57.254)
158.661
1,988.978

Net book amount at 31 March 2014

33.159

3.033

36.192

37,562.031

37,598.223

Net book amount at 1 April 2013

12.081

(0.159)

11.922

38,316.350

38,328.272

The asset base as at 31 March 2014 has been restated to reflect those used for the PR14 submission. This has resulted in an
‘AMP adjustment’ to the net book value of £1,727m (credit).
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2014 cont’d
2 (c) Analysis of capital expenditure, grants and land sales
Grants and
Gross contributions
2014
2014
£m
£m
Capital expenditure - water
Base :
Infrastructure Renewals Expenditure (IRE)
Maintenance non-infrastructure (MNI)
Enhancements :
Infrastructure enhancements
Non-infrastructure enhancements
Total capital expenditure - water

Net
2013
£m

(3.065)
(0.442)

52.569
100.244

60.936
72.952

(1.482)
(0.248)

59.454
72.704

5.226
13.249
174.795

(3.507)

5.226
13.249
171.288

4.404
21.256
159.548

(1.730)

4.404
21.256
157.818

(0.768)
(2.820)
(3.588)

(2.062)
(2.403)
(4.465)

44.048
90.215

(2.699)
(0.455)

41.349
89.760

46.025
83.429

(1.899)
(2.111)

44.126
81.318

19.252
24.999

-

19.252
24.999

18.518
30.901

-

18.518
30.901

178.514

(3.154)

175.360

178.873

(4.010)

174.863

Grants and contributions - sewerage
Developer contributions (i.e. Enhancement
requisitions, grants and contributions)
Infrastructure charge receipts - new connections
Other Contributions
Total grants and contributions - sewerage

Total capital expenditure - water and sewerage

Grants and
Gross contributions
2013
2013
£m
£m

55.634
100.686

Grants and contributions - water
Developer contributions
Infrastructure charge receipts - new connections
Other Contributions
Total grants and contributions - water
Capital expenditure - sewerage
Base :
Infrastructure Renewals Expenditure (IRE)
Maintenance non-infrastructure (MNI)
Enhancements :
Infrastructure enhancements
Non-infrastructure enhancements
Large projects capex :
Infrastructure enhancements
Non-infrastructure enhancements
Total capital expenditure - sewerage

Net
2014
£m

(1.099)
(2.579)
(3.678)

(13.744)

324.677

2014
£m

2013
£m

2.3
1.0
40.8
5.4
1.1
17.9
64.2
3.2
(45.7)
(64.8)
(30.2)
(3.8)

1.7
10.2
31.8
4.5
0.4
16.9
66.0
6.1
(48.3)
(59.0)
(34.0)
(9.3)

Total working capital

(8.6)

(13.0)

Total revenue outstanding - household
- non-household

147.1
18.0

130.4
15.3

3

353.309

(13.927)

(1.271)
(2.268)
(3.539)

339.382

338.421

Working capital

Stocks
Trade debtors

- measured household
- unmeasured household
- measured non-household
- unmeasured non-household
- other

Measured income accrual
Prepayments and other debtors
Trade creditors
Deferred income – customer advance receipts
Capital creditors
Accruals and other creditors
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2014 cont’d
4

Movement on reserves of the appointed business

a) Profit and loss account
At 1 April
Current cost profit for the year
Pension scheme actuarial loss net of deferred tax
Dividends paid
At 31 March
a) Current cost reserve
At 1 April
AMP adjustment (application of MEA valuation)

2013
£m

(92.6)
100.5
15.3
23.2

(168.2)
73.3
2.3
(92.6)

24,008.8 23,190.8
(1,727.1)
22,281.7 23,190.8

RPI adjustments:
- fixed assets
- working capital
- financing
- grants and contributions
At 31 March

5

2014
£m

901.8 1,098.1
(0.3)
(0.8)
(33.5)
(39.3)
(275.4) (240.1)
22,874.3 24,008.7

Analysis of net debt, gearing and interest costs

Analysis of net debt, gearing and interest costs
Fixed rate Floating rate Index linked
2014
2014
2014
£m
£m
£m
Borrowings (excluding preference shares)
Index-linked swaps (unallocated)

(1,001.0)

(118.1)
165.6

(1,737.8)
(165.6)

Total Borrowings

58.5
(92.5)

Net Debt

(2,822.9)

Regulatory capital value
Gearing

4,468.0
63.2%
62.0
62.0

2.6
2.6

Indicative interest rates
Indicative weighted average nominal interest rate
Indicative weighted average cash interest rate
Weighted average years to maturity

(2,856.9)
(2,856.9)

Net interest accrual
Short term deposits

Full year equivalent nominal interest cost
Full year equivalent cash interest payment

Total
2014
£m

9

-

109.4
69.1

174.0
133.7

5.7%
3.6%

6.0%
4.6%

22

17

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is not disclosed in the Regulatory Accounts, and the impact of these
instruments is, accordingly, not taken into account in the interest rate risk profile shown above. However, the Glas Cymru
Group has entered into swap transactions which do not qualify for hedge accounting, as disclosed in the statutory financial
statements prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Current cost notes to the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2014 cont’d
6

Regulatory capital value

The table below shows the regulatory capital value (RCV) used by Ofwat in 2009 in setting the price limits for 2013/14 at
2013/14 prices. Differences between the figures shown below and actual expenditure/charges for the year will not affect the
price limits in the current regulatory period, but will be taken into account in the calculation for the 2014 Price Review.
£m
Closing RCV
Indexation (inflating from 2012/13 prices to 2013/14 prices)
Opening RCV at 1 April 2013
Capital expenditure (excluding IRE)
Infrastructure renewals expenditure
Infrastructure renewals charge
Grants and contributions
Current cost depreciation
Outperformance of regulatory assumptions
RCV at 31 March 2014

4,346
106
4,452
178
89
(73)
(14)
(154)
(10)
4,468

Average RCV during the year

4,407

7

Non-financial information for the year ended 31 March 2014
Water Sewerage
2014
2014

Number of properties ('000s)
Households billed
Non-households billed
Household voids
Non-household voids

Water Sewerage
2013
2013

1,226.990
102.341
55.155
13.797

1,275.750
74.690
55.215
9.580

1,223.657
102.087
51.972
13.859

1,269.794
74.761
51.851
9.457

-

-

-

-

Per capita consumption (excluding supply pipe leakage) l/h/d
Unmeasured household
Measured household

157.1
112.4

-

154.6
115.3

-

Volume (Ml/d)
Bulk supply export
Bulk supply import
Distribution input

320.4
23.0
800.1

-

337.8
25.0
796.2

-

Properties served by new appointee in supply area as at 1 April 20091

1

It has not proved possible to identify the properties served by new appointee in supply areas as at 1 April 2009.
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8 (a) Operating cost analysis for the year ended 31 March 2014 (wholesale business only)

Water
Raw water
Treated
Resources distribution Treatment distribution
2014
2014
2014
2014
£m
£m
£m
£m

Water
sub-total
2014
£m

Sewage
collection
2014
£m

Sewerage
Sewage
Sludge
treatment treatment
2014
2014
£m
£m

Sludge
disposal
2014
£m

Sewerage
sub-total
2014
£m

Total
2014
£m
40.475
16.013
1.519
129.127
27.646
214.780

Operating expenditure
Power
Income treated as negative expenditure
Service charges
Bulk supply imports
Other operating expenditure
Local authority rates
Exceptional items
Total operating expenditure excluding third party services

2.507
10.502
0.770
4.295
0.502
18.576

3.825
1.234
0.376
5.435

7.789
0.340
25.573
1.682
35.384

4.531
0.749
35.003
13.879
54.162

18.652
10.842
1.519
66.105
16.439
113.557

8.208
1.768
21.703
0.068
31.747

12.755

0.860

-

3.403

-

-

26.146
11.100
53.404

11.380
0.036
12.276

3.793
0.003
3.796

21.823
5.171
63.022
11.207
101.223

Capital maintenance
Infrastructure renewals charge
Current cost depreciation
Recharges to other business units
Recharges from other business units
Amortisation of deferred credits
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total capital maintenance excluding third party services

4.939
4.615
(0.041)
9.513

0.035
1.176
(0.010)
1.201

33.419
(0.298)
33.121

33.749
21.906
(0.205)
55.450

38.723
61.116
(0.554)
99.285

29.769
23.449
(0.209)
53.009

0.488
65.242
(0.582)
65.148

5.471
(0.049)
5.422

0.332
(0.003)
0.329

30.257
94.494
(0.843)
123.908

68.980
155.610
(1.397)
223.193

2.515
-

0.901
0.001
(0.072)

1.733
-

3.199
0.561
1.101

8.348
0.562
1.029

-

-

-

-

-

8.348
0.562
1.029

30.604

7.466

70.238

114.473

222.781

84.756

118.552

17.698

4.125

225.131

447.912

Third party services
Operating expenditure
Infrastructure renewals charge
Current cost depreciation
Total operating costs
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8 (b) Operating cost analysis for the year ended 31 March 2014 (retail business only)

Household
2014
£m

Nonhousehold
2014
£m

Total
2014
£m

Operating expenditure
Customer services
Debt management
Doubtful debts
Meter reading
Services to developers
Other operating expenditure
Local authority rates
Exceptional items
Total operating expenditure excluding third party services

10.286
6.425
26.009
2.015
9.312
0.294
54.341

1.240
0.421
2.512
0.404
0.115
1.550
0.032
6.274

11.526
6.846
28.521
2.419
0.115
10.862
0.326
60.615

Third party services operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

54.341

6.274

60.615

Capital maintenance
Current cost depreciation
Recharges to other business units
Recharges from other business units
Amortisation of deferred credits
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total capital maintenance

1.588
(0.014)
1.574

0.419
(0.004)
0.415

2.007
(0.018)
1.989

Total operating costs
Debt written off

55.915
8.837

6.689
1.020

62.604
9.857
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